

Nucleic Acid Oxidation in DNA Damage Repair and Epigenetics

Guanqun Zheng, Ye Fu, and Chuan He*

Department of Chemistry and Institute for Biophysical Dynamics, The University of Chicago, 929 East 57th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60637, United States



CONTENTS

1. Introduction	4602	
2. AlkB and Its Human Homologues	4604	
2.1. Oxidative Dealkylation Mediated by AlkB	4604	
2.1.1. E. coli AlkB	4604	
2.1.2. Mechanism	4604	
2.1.3. Substrate Site Specificity	4606	
2.2. AlkB Homologues	4607	
2.2.1. ALKBH2	4607	
2.2.2. ALKBH3	4609	
3. RNA Demethylases	4609	
3.1. FTO	4609	
3.2. ALKBH5	4610	
4. Other AlkB Homologues	4611	
4.1. ALKBH8	4611	
4.2. ALKBH1, -4, and -7	4612	
4.2.1. ALKBH1	4612	
4.2.2. ALKBH4	4612	
4.2.3. ALKBH7	4612	
5. TET Family Dioxygenases	4612	
5.1. Active DNA Demethylation in Mammals	4612	
5.2. TET Proteins and Mechanism of Oxidation	4612	
5.3. TET-Mediated DNA Demethylation	4613	
5.4. 5mC Oxidation Derivatives 5hmC, 5fC, and		
5caC	4614	
6. Conclusions and Perspective	4614	
Author Information	4615	
Corresponding Author	4615	
Notes	4615	
Biographies	4615	
Acknowledgments		
Abbreviations		
References	4616	

1. INTRODUCTION

Methylation is a widely occurring chemical modification in nucleic acids and proteins. Methylating agents, either extracellular or intracellular, can attack vulnerable sites in DNA, which can lead to cytotoxic and/or cancerogenic DNA damages. Methylation also plays critical signaling roles in biology. Using S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) as the most common electrophilic source of methyl groups, various methyltransferases modify DNA, RNA, and proteins to generate different biological methylations that impact gene expression regulation.^{1,2} Whereas the significance of methylation is widely appreciated, the demethylation process, oxidative demethylation in particular, has received much recent attention due in large part to its cellular regulatory functions. Demethylation, together with methylation, continuously sculpts the methylomes of biomolecules. This review focuses on oxidative demethylation as mediated by a family of mononuclear iron(II)-containing enzymes. The members of this family of enzymes were first discovered as DNA-repair proteins that oxidatively reverse DNA methylation damage. Subsequent research in recent years has revealed much broader and significant roles of these demethylases in controlling gene expression through the demethylation of epigenetic methylations on DNA, RNA, and histones.

DNA methylation damage caused by methylating agents can occur on different positions of bases or backbones. The location depends on the chemical reaction type $(S_N 1 \text{ or } S_N 2 \text{ nucleophilic substitution})$, as well as the susceptibility of the position. In general, the $S_N 1$ type of methylating agent (e.g., *N*-methyl-*N'*-nitrosourea, MNU) methylates both nitrogen and oxygen atoms in nucleic acids, whereas the $S_N 2$ -type agents (e.g., methylmethane sulfonate, MMS) tend to attack the nucleophilic *N*-position of exposed bases (Figure 1A).³⁻⁵ The resulting lesions exhibit different levels of cellular toxicity and mutagenic influence and can be promptly reversed by enzymes through either nucleophilic substitutions or oxidative demethylations (Figure 1B).^{3,6} This review discusses the oxidative demethylation repair pathway only.

 N^1 -Methyladenine (m¹A) and N^3 -methylcytosine (m³C) are major lesions formed in single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) in the presence of S_N^2 -type methylating agents.^{3,4,6} Methylations in these two positions compromise Watson–Crick base pairing during DNA replication, resulting in cytotoxcity.⁷ Through an unprecedented oxidative demethylation mechanism revealed over 10 years ago, the Fe^{II}/ α -ketoglutarate- (α -KG-) dependent AlkB family dioxygenases can repair these methylating DNA lesions.^{8,9} Since then, human homologues that perform similar repair functions have been identified. Studies of other homologues or proteins belonging to the same general family have uncovered a range of demethylation functions that reverse epigenetic methylations on histones, RNA, and DNA in higher

Special Issue: 2014 Bioinorganic Enzymology

Received: August 8, 2013 Published: February 28, 2014



Figure 1. Nucleic acid methylations. (A) Potential methylation sites in double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) and single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) upon reaction with MNU and MMS. The blue arrow indicates the predominant methylation sites that can be introduced by MNU; red arrows, predominant sites introduced by MMS; and green arrows, sites introduced by both MNU and MMS. (B) Methylations in DNA, RNA, or proteins can be reversed by enzymes through either nucleophilic substitution or oxidative demethylation mechanism.

eukaryotes. These studies have revealed that oxidative demethylation is the primary pathway used to reverse epigenetic methylations in biology.

Methylations in histone proteins are known to be important epigenetic marks that significantly affect gene expression. These post-translational N-methylations occur on the lysine, arginine,^{11–13} and histidine^{14,15} residues of histones and serve as a dynamic control that participates in a wide range of biological development and differentiation processes, as well as cellular response.^{16,17} Decades of effort have shifted the view of histone methylation from a static modification to a dynamic regulatory marker. In recent years, researchers have identified the enzymes responsible for the removal of these histone methylations. The most prevalent class of histone demethylases, the Jumonji C (JmjC) domain-containing histone demethylases (JHDMs), belongs to the Fe^{II}/ α -KG-dependent dioxygenase family. Containing a conserved JmjC domain, JHDMs adopt a conserved catalytic domain similar to that of the AlkB protein. JHDM proteins catalyze direct removal of histone lysine methylation through the same mechanism of oxidative demethylation as used by the AlkB proteins.¹⁸ The milestone discoveries of histone demethylation indicate that epigenetic methylation marks on other macromolecules could be reversed through the same oxidative demthylation pathway. In this review, we discuss the more recent research advances on oxidative demethylation of RNA and DNA.

As a modification, methylation is widely present in RNA and is thought to fine-tune the structure and function of mature RNA.¹⁹ A significant amount of methylation is present on the nitrogen atoms of bases, such as N^3 -methylcytosine in ribosomal RNA (rRNA), N^1 -methyladenosine in transfer RNA (tRNA), and N^7 -methylguanosine in messenger RNA (mRNA).^{20,21} Our work has proposed that RNA modifications can be oxidatively reversed; we also propose that RNA modifications might serve functional roles in gene expression regulation.²² Our recent discovery of two RNA N^6 -methyladenosine (m⁶A) demethylases, FTO (fat mass and obesityassociated) and ALKBH5 (AlkB homologue 5) confirmed these hypotheses. These two AlkB-family proteins are capable of demethylating m⁶A of RNA both in vitro and in vivo. Yet, they play distinct but indispensable roles in mammals, thus strongly supporting the regulatory significance of such reversible RNA methylation.^{23,24}

DNA methylation is one of the most widely recognized methylations in biological systems. In terms of epigenetic regulation, the nucleotide variant 5-methylcytosine (5mC) has long been established as a landmark modification in mammalian genomic DNA. Recognized as the "fifth base", 5mC encodes another layer of heritable information on the DNA code. DNA methylation occurs primarily at CpG dinucleotides in vertebrates, but it frequently displays a mosaic methylation pattern in invertebrate animals and plants.²⁵ In plants (e.g., A. thaliana), the Demeter (DME)/repressor of silencing 1 (ROS) family of 5mC glycosylases functions to remove 5mC through the base-excision-repair (BER) pathway.²⁶ Although the enzymes that catalyze DNA methylation in mammals have been well characterized,^{27–29} the enzymes responsible for demethylation were unknown until the recent ground-breaking discovery of the TET (ten-eleven translocation) family of mononuclear nonheme Fe^{II}-dependent dioxygenases. As identified, TET proteins can oxidize 5mC to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), 5-formylcytosine (5fC), and then 5carboxylcytosine (5caC) through stepwise oxidations; 5fC and 5caC can be further converted to cytosine through BER, which provides the first biochemically confirmed active demethylation pathway in mammalian cells.^{30–33} The TET protein family includes three members, TET1-TET3, which all adopt the conserved dioxygenase motif similar to that of AlkB to catalyze consecutive oxidations in an Fe^{II}/α -KG-dependent manner.

We first introduce and review direct oxidative demethylation in DNA damage repair. The discovery of direct RNA demethylation is discussed next. Because 5mC is a form of



Figure 2. DNA/RNA lesions that AlkB can repair. Exogenous or endogenous methylating agents can introduce various DNA methylations as shown, which are known substrates of AlkB. Exocyclic DNA adducts of $1,N^6$ -ethenoadenine (ε A) and $3,N^4$ -ethenocytosine (ε C) are generated by exposure to electrophilic vinyl chloride (VC) metabolites, chloroethylene oxide (CEO), or chloroacetaldehyde (CAA) introduced exogenously or endogenously from lipid peroxidation.^{54,55} $1,N^6$ -Ethanoadenine (EA) is produced by the reaction of adenine with the anticancer agent 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU).^{57,58} $3,N^4-\alpha$ -Hydroxypropanocytosine is produced by lipid peroxidation.⁵⁹

carbon methylation, the oxidation and demethylation of 5mC in DNA by the TET proteins are more complex. This review presents the mechanism and functional significance of this unique 5mC oxidation and demethylation. Our goal is to outline the most recent advances and chemical aspects of these biological demethylations.

2. ALKB AND ITS HUMAN HOMOLOGUES

2.1. Oxidative Dealkylation Mediated by AlkB

2.1.1. E. coli AlkB. Endogenous and environmental alkylation chemicals constantly challenge cellular DNAs, resulting in cytotoxic and mutagenic adducts. Accumulation of these alkylation adducts can lead to senescence, cancer, and even cell death. To ensure genomic integrity and the maintenance of proper cellular function, organisms have evolved a variety of housekeeping proteins to efficiently remove alkylation adducts, including DNA glycosylases in base-excision repair, suicidal O⁶-methylguanine methyltransferases in guanine methylation repair, and AlkB family proteins in direct oxidative repair.⁷ Although the alkB gene in E. coli was identified in a mutant strain with increased sensitivity to the S_N2-type alkylating agent MMS as early as 1983,³⁴ it took researchers two decades to characterize the gene. The gene encodes a protein that belongs to the family of Fe^{II}/α -KG-dependent dioxygenases, which has recently emerged as a versatile family of nonheme oxidation enzymes that perform a variety of critical functions.35

Early evidence suggested that AlkB is capable of protecting cells from lethal effects by repairing MMS-induced DNA damage under alkylation threats^{36–38} in a process different from the DNA-repair mechanisms known at the time.³⁹ AlkB protein could be expressed and purified;^{40,41} however, it was challenging to biochemically determine the activity of AlkB in vitro. Early studies did suggest that AlkB prefers ssDNA and might repair m¹A and m³C, which are major DNA lesions induced by MMS.³⁹ A bioinformatics study largely instigated this field. The study used sequence profile analysis, which predicted that AlkB is an Fe^{II}/ α -KG-dependent dioxygenase.⁴² These results inspired subsequent biochemical tests of the catalytic activity of the AlkB protein.

2.1.2. Mechanism. In 2002, two independent groups made breakthroughs showing that AlkB directly reverses m¹A and

m³C to unmethylated bases in DNA through an oxidative demethylation mechanism in the presence of iron(II), α -KG, and dioxygen.^{8,9} To date, the substrates of AlkB have been extended to N¹-methylguanine (m¹G), N³-methylthymine (m³T),⁴³⁻⁴⁵ 1,N⁶-ethenoadenine (ε A),⁴⁶⁻⁵⁰ 3,N⁴-ethenocytosine (ε C),^{49,51-55} 1,N⁶-ethanoadenine (EA),⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ 3,N⁴- α -hydroxypropanocytosine,⁵⁹ and m⁶A (Figure 2).⁵⁶ These substrates can be classified into three types under physiological pH: positively charged adducts (the most efficient substrates for AlkB), neutral adducts, and cyclic adducts.⁶⁰ The versatility reveals the capacity of AlkB to operate on a diverse range of substrates. DNA lesions of m¹A and m³C are believed to represent the physiologically relevant substrates for AlkB. AlkB has also been shown to reduce the toxicity of DNA-damaging agents that induce hydroxyethyl, propyl, and hydroxypropyl adducts in bacteria.⁶¹

The AlkB protein uses a mononuclear iron(II) center to donate two electrons for the reduction of dioxygen;^{7,62-65} α -KG serves as a cosubstrate to provide the other two electrons required for the four-electron reduction (Figure 3). This



Figure 3. View of active-site stereochemistry with ligand coordination [Protein Data Bank (PDB) ID 2FD8]. His131, Asp133, and His187 are ligands to iron.





Figure 4. Proposed mechanisms of AlkB-mediated oxidative dealkyaltion toward (A) m^1A and $1,N^6$ -ethenoadenine (εA) and (B) $1,N^6$ -ethanoadenine (εA). The EA demethylation involves two steps of oxidation, one at N^1 and a second at N^6 , as well as further hydrolysis to completely restore the lesion back to adenosine.

catalysis is composed of two phases: the activation of dioxygen and the oxidation of substrates. In the first phase, AlkB incorporates both α -KG and iron(II) to become catalytically ready.⁶⁶ The active-site iron(II) then binds and activates a dioxygen molecule that subsequently attacks the bound α -KG. Cleavage of the O—O bond then yields a high-valent, high-spin (*S* = 2) iron(IV)-oxo species⁶⁷ and converts α -KG to succinate. It is proposed that the iron(IV)-oxo species then undergoes



Figure 5. Oxidative demethylation mediated by AlkB. Oxidative repair of εA , m³T, and m³C by AlkB with intermediates glycol (PDB ID 301U), hemiaminal (PDB ID 301P), and a zwitterion (PDB ID 301S), respectively, captured during oxidation in crystals.

conformational reorientation upon the release of CO_2 from the active site.^{64,68–70} The Fe^{IV}=O double bond is reoriented to the trans position to His187, which draws the Fe^{IV}=O oxygen closer to the target methyl carbon.⁷¹ In the second phase of the proposed mechanism, the highly oxidative Fe^{IV}=O species could abstract an H atom from the methyl group of the aberrant methyl adduct to yield an Fe^{III}-OH species and a carbon radical. The iron-associated OH can rebound to the carbon radical, yielding a hydroxylated intermediate that dissociates from the active site and subsequently decomposes in water to afford the final demethylated product (Figure 4). Replacing iron(II) with nickel or other metals eradicates this enzymatic activity.^{72,73}

In the absence of substrates, this reaction has a modest α -KG turnover, and the produced iron(IV)-oxo species can hydroxylate the side chain of Trp178 of AlkB, leading to irreversible modification of the protein itself.⁶³ The α -KG turnover could be significantly stimulated by the addition of methylated DNA, suggesting that binding of the methyl group primes the protein to be catalytically ready.^{8,9,74} Analogues of α -KG were found to inhibit AlkB with high specificity.⁷⁴ Fluorescence-based assays have been developed to characterize oxidation kinetics and screen inhibitors of its human homologues.^{75–79} Because DNA-damage-induced apoptosis is

one of the major mechanisms for cytotoxic anticancer drugs, inhibitors of oxidative demethylases might have the potential to improve the efficacy of certain chemotherapies.

With exocyclic DNA adducts such as εA and εC , ^{49,53} epoxide intermediates were observed in AlkB-mediated oxidation through the use of mass spectrometry, thus providing evidence of the direct reversal mechanism. Recently, a chemical crosslinking strategy coupled with in crystallo reaction was employed to stabilize and characterize the hydroxylated intermediates glycol (from εA), hemiaminal (from m³T), and a zwitterionic intermediate (from m³C) (Figure 5).⁶⁰ These intermediates were generated from representatives of all three types of AlkB substrates, thus confirming the mechanism of oxidative demethylation. In addition, the positively charged zwitterion intermediate from m³C contains a better leaving group than the neutral hemiaminal thymine derived from m³T at physiological pH; therefore, m³C undergoes a decomposition more quickly than m³T to liberate the intact base. This might partially explain the higher repair rate of AlkB to m³C and m¹A than to m³T and $m^1G.^6$

2.1.3. Substrate Site Specificity. Substrate recognition of AlkB has been investigated by kinetic analyses and crystallographic studies. AlkB preferentially repairs positively charged lesions.^{52,53} These positively charged substrates could be

favorably positioned in the active-site pocket through interaction with the negatively charged side chain of Asp135 in the enzyme (Figure 6).⁵⁹ A polynucleotide structure is not



Figure 6. Crystal structure of an AlkB–dsDNA complex (PDB ID 3BIE). The protein is colored according to subdomain organization with the N-terminal extension in yellow (residues 13–44), the nucleotide-recognition lid in red (residues 45–90), and the catalytic core in blue (residues 91–214). Manganese(II) (orange) replaces iron(II) in the structure to eliminate catalytic activity. The flipped-base m¹A is shown in blue, α -KG in green, protein residues in white, DNA backbone in beige, bases in the m¹A-containing DNA strand in cyan, and bases of the complementary strand in purple.

essential, but a nucleotide 5' phosphate group is required for AlkB to effectively repair the substrate.⁶¹ AlkB creates an electropositive binding groove (Thr51 to Tyr55, Ser129, and Lys127) to anchor the phosphodiester backbone of the substrate. Trp69 and His131 stabilize the base by $\pi - \pi$ stacking in the active-site pocket. Tyr78, Lys134, Asp135, and Glu136 coordinately recognize the flipped bases through the formation of specific hydrogen bonds. Compared to other similar dioxygenases, AlkB contains 90 unique N-terminal residues to form a flexible substrate-binding lid that docks the diverse alkylated nucleotide substrates in optimal catalytic geometry (Figure 6).^{48,60,71,80,81}

AlkB prefers to repair methylation damages in ssDNA rather than those in double-stranded DNA (dsDNA), suggesting its association with replication forks or its functional coupling with transcription.^{75,82–84} Methylations at the N^1 site of adenine and the N^3 site of cytosine alter the Waston–Crick base pairing, thus disrupting DNA double helices.^{85,86} These methylations could block replication and transcription, leading to recruitment of the repair enzyme. These two modifications could also occur in RNA and are exposed in ssDNA. In later research, AlkB was indeed shown to repair these adducts in RNA both in vitro and inside cells.^{82,87,88} Repairing these lesions in mRNA and tRNA was suggested as part of an adaptive response to protect bacteria against chemical methylations.^{87,89–91}

One advance in probing the structure and substrate preferences of AlkB involves a disulfide cross-linking approach to stabilize the labile protein–DNA complex.^{92,93} AlkB interacts almost exclusively with the damage-containing strand and utilizes a unique base-flipping mechanism to access the damaged base. AlkB squeezes together the two bases that flank the flipped-out base to maintain the base stack. Therefore, attempts to access the damage in the dsDNA of a rigid duplex structure is thermodynamically less favorable than attempts to access the same damage in ssDNA. Because AlkB binds to DNAs regardless of their sequences, the complementary strand in dsDNA serves as a noncompetitive inhibitor for the repair, leading to the preference of AlkB for ssDNA over dsDNA (Figure 6).^{81,94}

2.2. AlkB Homologues

Bioinformatics and functional analyses reveal that AlkB homologues are widely expressed in many organisms, from bacteria to humans, and carry out diverse biological functions.^{42,95-103} The majority of bacterial AlkB homologues are DNA-repair proteins.^{100,103} Two AlkB homologues have been found in the genome of fission yeast S. pombe.^{101,104} One of them, Ofd2, has been characterized as an Fe^{II}/ α -KGdependent dioxygenase that interacts with histones. In mammals, nine homologues of AlkB have been identified so far, termed ALKBH1-ALKBH8 and FTO.95,97,105,106 All of them contain a double-stranded β -helix (DSBH) catalytic core that is conserved for this family of dioxygenases,¹⁰⁷ including an HXDX_nH motif for iron binding, as well as a RXXXXXR motif for the α -KG binding (Figure 7).^{7,106,108} Among these proteins, ALKBH2 and ALKBH3 are the most similar to AlkB. They function as DNA-repair proteins to protect the genomic integrity of mammalian cells.

2.2.1. ALKBH2. ALKBH2 has been characterized as a bona fide DNA-repair enzyme that guards the mammalian genome. It displays robust repair activity against cytotoxic m^1A and m^3C in vitro and in vivo,^{82,109,110} but reduced activity toward m^3T in dsDNA.43 ALKBH2 also protects the mammalian genome against εA and εC through direct oxidative dealkylation, a process complementary to that of DNA glycosylase, which repairs the same lesions through the BER pathway.^{111,112} Knockdown of ALKBH2 in 239T cells has resulted in globally increased single-stranded and double-stranded DNA breaks, especially among the highly transcribed rRNA genes, thereby suggesting that ALKBH2 is involved in DNA repair in humans.¹¹³ In mice, ALKBH2 serves as the primary oxidative demethylase for repairing m¹A and m³C lesions in DNA,¹¹⁴ thus protecting the mouse genome when exogenous methylating agents threaten primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts.¹¹⁵ In addition, the homologue of ALKBH2 in A. thaliana also acts as an important enzyme for protecting A. thaliana against DNA methylation damage.¹¹⁶ These results suggest that the homologues of ALKBH2 in other organisms share a similar DNA-repair function.

AlkB	RYAPGAKLSLMQDKDEPDLRAPIVSVSLGLPAIFQFGGLKRND 16
ALKBH1	YYRLDSTLGI <mark>H</mark> VDRSELDHSKPLLSFSFGQSAIFLLGGLQRDE 18
ALKBH2	YKDGCDHIGE
ALKBH3	YRNEKDSVDW <mark>H</mark> SD-DEPSLGRCPIIASLSFGATRTFEMRK-KPPPEENGDYTYV 23
ALKBH4	CPERGSAIDPELD-DAWLWGERLVSLNLLSPTVLSMCR-EAPGSLLLCSAPSAAPE 212
ALKBH5	DYQPGGCIVSHVDPIHIFERPIVSVSFFSDSALCFGCKFQFKPIRVSE 24
ALKBH6	QYLPGEGIMPHED-GPLYYPTVSTISLGSHTVLDFYEPRRPEDDDPTEQPRPPPR 88
ALKBH7	DLEARGYIKPYY -SIKFCGATIAGLSLLSPSVMRLVH-TQEPG 153
ALKBH8	QYEPGQGIPA DTHSAFEDEIVSLSLGSEIVMDFKHPDG 26
FTO	FGMGKMAVSWHHDENLVDRSAVAVYSYSCEGPEEESEDDSHLEGRDPDIWHVGFKISWDIET 282
AlkB	PLKRLLLEHG 195
ALKBH1	APPPMFMHSGCIMIMSGFSRLLN- <mark>H</mark> AVPRVLPNPEGEGLPHCL 230
ALKBH2	avvrlplahg241
ALKBH3	ERVKIPLDHG262
ALKBH4	ALVDSVIAPSRSVLCQEVEVAIPLPARSLLVLTGAARHQWK <mark>H</mark> AIHR 258
ALKBH5	PVLSLPVRRG271 271
ALKBH6	PTTSLLLEPRSLLVLRGPAYTRLL <mark>H</mark> GIAAARVDALDAASSPPN 131
ALKBH7	EWLELLLEPG 190
ALKBH8	IAVPVMLPRRSLLVMTGESRYLWT <mark>H</mark> GITCRKFDTVQASESLKS 310
FTO	PGLAIPLHQG 311
AlkB	216
ALKBH1	EAPLPAVLPRDSMVEPCSMEDWQVCASYLKTARVNMTV <mark>H</mark> QVLATDQNFP 279
ALKBH2	261
ALKBH3	YHSREPEVNLTFETVYPDPRGAP 285
ALKBH4	FHIEAR <mark>B</mark> VCVTF <mark>H</mark> ELSAEFGPGG 281
ALKBH5	DIKER <mark>R</mark> AVIIL <mark>R</mark> KTRLDAPRLE 293
ALKBH6	AAACPSARPGACLVRGTRVSLTIRRVPRVLRAGL 165
ALKBH7	RIPRGR <mark>R</mark> ISVIC <mark>R</mark> SLPEGMGPGE 213
ALKBH8	GIITSDVGDLTLSKRGL <mark>R</mark> TSFTF <mark>R</mark> KVRQTPCNCS 344
FTO	GSQPEFSSTHEVAECSTGTLD 332

Figure 7. Sequence alignment of human AlkB family proteins with AlkB. Conserved residues highlighted in red represent histidines and carboxylates as iron(II)-binding residues, as well as the characteristic RXXXXR region, which binds the cofactor α -KG.



Figure 8. Crystal structures of AlkB human homologues: (A) ALKBH2–dsDNA complex (PDB ID 3BUC) and (B) ALKBH3 (PDB ID 2IUW). The protein is colored in blue, with the β -hairpin (ALKBH2, residues 89–108; ALKBH3, residues 113–129) in red. Manganese(II) is shown in orange, α -KG in green, protein residues in white, DNA backbone in beige, bases in the m¹A-containing DNA strand in cyan, and bases of the complementary strand in purple.

In the same oxidative dealkylation mechanism, ALKBH2 reverses DNA damage by using an active iron center as AlkB (Figure 3).^{117,118} ALKBH2 prefers to repair damage in duplex DNA over ssDNA, however.^{82,83,92} Crystallographic studies have revealed that, unlike AlkB, ALKBH2 makes extensive contact with both strands of duplex DNA.⁹³ Unlike certain glycosylases, ALKBH2 does not contain a damage-checking site.¹¹⁹ Rather, ALKBH2 appears to detect damaged bases by probing their base-pair stability.¹²⁰ Consider m¹A as an example: It primarily adopts a syn conformation to pair with

the opposite T in a Hoogsteen base pair, which exhibits lower base-pairing stability compared to the normal A–T base pair.¹²¹ This reduced stability facilitates the recognition and repair of m¹A by ALKBH2. Compared to AlkB, ALKBH2 contains a unique short hydrophobic β -hairpin in proximity to the active site; this hairpin is significant to the preference of ALKBH2 for double-stranded DNA substrates (Figure 8A).^{122,123} More specifically, the aromatic finger residue, Phe102, intercalates into the duplex stack to facilitate the base flipping. Phe124,



Figure 9. Crystal structures of RNA demethylases: (A) Human FTO (PDB ID 3LFM), where the N-terminal AlkB-like domain (residues 32-326) and C-terminal domain (residues 327-498) are colored in blue and yellow, respectively; the extra loop for single-stranded substrate recognition is highlighted in red; iron(II) is shown in orange; and N-oxalylglycine (green) was used to substitute α -KG to afford a catalytically inert FTO. (B) Human ALKBH5 (PDB ID 4NJ4), where the AlkB-like domain is labeled in blue with the single-stranded substrate recognition loop labeled in red. Mn(II) (orange) replaces iron(II) in the structure.

His171, and Glu175 coordinate with other protein residues to recognize and flip the damaged base.

ALKBH2 is frequently down-regulated in gastric cancer¹²⁴ and is also involved in the growth of brain tumor cells,¹²⁵ glioblastoma,¹²⁶ colorectal cancer,¹²⁷ and bladder cancer.¹²⁸ Knockdown of ALKBH2 increases the sensitivity of cancer therapies, such as photodynamic therapy (PDT) mediated by Photofrin and chemotherapy with cisplatin.^{129,130} Based on these observations, ALKBH2, together with its repair partners,¹³¹ might serve as a biological marker for cancer monitoring, as well as a potential target for therapy.

2.2.2. ALKBH3. ALKBH3 is a close homologue of ALKBH2 and was identified at the same time as ALKBH2. ALKBH3 demethylates both m¹A and m³C (resides 230-243), with lowered activity toward m¹T and εA .^{43,47,61,82,83,109} Although these two proteins work on similar substrates, ALKBH2 prefers double-stranded substrates, whereas ALKBH3 favors single-stranded nucleic acid substrates.^{82,83,92} ALKBH3 can also demethylate m¹A and m³C in RNA,^{82,90,110} suggesting the possibility of repairing RNA lesions.^{82,87,132} Recently, ALKBH3 was found to maintain genomic integrity by coordinating with ASCC3 (activating signal cointegrator 1 complex subunit 3) in a cell-line-specific manner.¹³³ ASCC3 encodes a 3'-5' DNA helicase that unwinds duplex DNA to generate ssDNA and exposes DNA lesions, thus providing access for ALKBH3mediated repair. Loss of ALKBH3 or ASCC3 abrogates cells' tolerance toward DNA damage, which implies their significance in guarding genomic integrity. Interestingly, only one of these two proteins, either ALKBH2 or ALKBH3, functions in a specific cell line to resist alkylation, suggesting the potential reciprocal nature of these two repair pathways.

Analogously to ALKBH2, ALKBH3 also contains a flexible hairpin that is thought to be involved in base flipping and distinguishing single-stranded versus double-stranded substrates (Figure 8B).^{122,134,135} However, the hairpin in ALKBH3 is quite hydrophilic with heavily charged amino acids. When these two loops are swapped, the ssDNA/dsDNA substrate preference of the proteins is switched;¹³⁵ this phenomenon might provide hints about differences in substrate recognition. Despite these findings, a crystal structure of substrate-bounded ALKBH3 complex is highly desirable to interpret the features required for substrate recognition.

As a contributor to DNA repair, ALKBH3 not only guards the genomic integrity in normal cells, but also impacts cancer cell survival and invasion.¹³⁶ ALKBH3 is overexpressed in various cancer cells¹³³ and exhibits a potential role in brain tumors,¹²⁵ lung cancer,¹³⁷ rectal carcinoma,¹³⁸ papillary thyroid cancer,¹³⁹ colorectal cancer,¹²⁷ prostate cancer,¹⁴⁰ pancreatic cancer,¹⁴¹ and urothelial carcinoma.¹⁴² An understanding of ALKBH3 in mammalian cells could provide potential therapeutic approaches for the treatment of certain cancers.

3. RNA DEMETHYLASES

Based on the AlkB-mediated DNA demethylation mechanism, we proposed and devoted our efforts to the search for reversible RNA methylation.²² The discovery that AlkB human homologues FTO and ALKBH5 mediate RNA demethylation represents an exciting breakthrough. FTO and ALKBH5 are the first two RNA demethylases ever to be discovered. FTO shows a strong correlation with obesity in humans, whereas ALKBH5 participates in spermatogenesis in mice.^{24,143–145} The demethylation function of m⁶A in mRNA and other RNAs by these two enzymes revealed a previously uncharacterized, reversible regulatory mechanism present in mammals.^{23,24} Analogous to the methylation of DNA and histones, reversible RNA methylation might also contribute to gene expression regulation, thus attracting broad attention from the research community.

3.1. FTO

The *FTO* gene was first described as one of the six genes deleted in a fused-toe (*Ft*) mutant mouse.¹⁴⁶ Several genomewide association studies (GWASs) then found FTO to be associated with human fat mass and obesity in 2007.^{143–145} The *Fto* knockout mice showed multiple phenotypes, including the increased possibility of postnatal lethality, postnatal growth retardation, and reduced fat mass.¹⁴⁷ FTO has the highest expression in brain tissues.¹⁰⁶ FTO has also been linked to food intake,¹⁴⁸ development,¹⁴⁹ cancer,¹⁵⁰ and other emerging functions.¹⁵¹ Studies indicated that FTO is homologous to the AlkB family dioxygenases^{105,106} and exhibits weak demethylation activity toward m³T in ssDNA¹⁰⁶ and N³methyluracil (m³U) in ssRNA.¹⁵² Mutation of an amino acid in the conserved active site eradicates its catalytic activity (Figure 7) and leads to human postnatal growth retardation, facial dysmorphism, and certain brain malformations.¹⁴⁹ The crystal structure of FTO supports the preference of FTO for ssRNA; in this crystal structure, an extra loop collides with the complementary strand of a potential duplex substrate (Figure 9A).¹⁵³ FTO is characterized by a N-terminal AlkB-like domain and a C-terminal domain with a novel fold composed mainly of α -helices.¹⁵³ In 2011, our group discovered FTO as the first RNA demethylase that reverses m⁶A methylation in mamma-lian mRNA and other nuclear RNAs.²³

The m⁶A level is quite low in the genomic DNA of higher eukaryotes;^{24,154} yet, it is the most prevalent internal modification in mRNA for higher eukaryotes, at a frequency of approximately three sites on average per each mRNA.¹⁹ m⁶A is also present in tRNA, rRNA, small nuclear RNA (snRNA), and long noncoding RNA (lncRNA).^{155–157} This methylation in mRNA is installed by mRNA m⁶A methyltransferases at a consensus sequence of Pu[G > A]m⁶AC[A/C/U].^{157–161} Transcriptome-wide profiling of m⁶A reveals that this modification is present in all regions of mRNA, but is highly enriched around the stop codon region of the mRNA.^{157,159} At present, however, the exact function of this enrichment is unclear.

FTO forms discrete granules in the cell nucleus and partially colocalizes with nuclear speckles where mRNA methylation and splicing take place. Inhibition of transcription using Actinomycin D enhances this colocalization pattern, providing further support for RNA as a direct substrate of FTO in vivo.² Recently, several potential mRNA substrates of Fto, including Drd3, Kcnj6, and Grin1 in the dopaminergic signaling pathway, have been identified by comparing m⁶A-IP (immunoprecipitation)-enriched mRNA peaks from the wild type to peaks observed in $Fto^{-/-}$ mouse brain.¹⁶² The protein levels of these species decrease with little change in the mRNA level, suggesting that m⁶A has a potential suppressing effect on mRNA translation.¹⁶² Indeed, the overall negative impact of mRNA m⁶A methylation on gene expression was revealed recently.¹⁶³ The characterization of the first reader protein of m⁶A further revealed an m⁶A-dependent mRNA degradation mechanism.163

The demethylation mechanism of FTO was thought to be similar to the mechanism of the AlkB family proteins. However, later studies demonstrated that FTO not only converts m⁶A to N^6 -hydroxymethyladenosine (hm⁶A), but also converts hm⁶A to N^6 -formyladenosine (f⁶A) in sequential oxidation steps in RNA, albeit with lower efficiency (Figure 10).¹⁶⁴ Unlike the direct oxidation products of m¹A and m³C by AlkB, both hm⁶A and $f^{6}A$ are relatively stable and can be detected and characterized in vitro and in vivo.¹⁶⁴ The increased stability of hm⁶A most likely stems from the difference between hydroxymethylations on exocyclic nitrogen in hm⁶A and on endocyclic nitrogen in other hemiaminal intermediates such as hm³T. Molecular dynamics simulations suggest that hm⁶A fits the active site of FTO in a manner similar to m⁶A.¹⁶⁴ Both hm⁶A and f⁶A hydrolytically decompose in water with a half-life of about 3 h under physiological conditions, suggesting potential roles of these oxidation products in mRNA in vivo, such as modulating RNA-protein interactions.¹⁶⁴

FTO is involved in human energy homeostasis in a significant way. Mutation of FTO impacts ~ 1 billion members of the human population.¹⁶⁵ Small-molecule inhibitors of FTO have been developed with the aim of eventually producing therapies for obesity and diabetes.^{166,167}

3.2. ALKBH5

ALKBH5 is a ubiquitously expressed protein with two possible regulators: either the protein arginine methyltransferase 7



Figure 10. Oxidative demethylation of m^6A in RNA mediated by FTO and ALKBH5. Note that ALKBH5-mediated oxidation of m^6A should also generate hm^6A as an intermediate, which can decompose in the active site of the protein. In the case of FTO, both hm^6A and f^6A are observed during the oxidation reaction.

(PRMT7) upon genotoxic stresses or hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF- 1α) under hypoxia conditions.^{168,169} Located primarily in the nucleus, ALKBH5 has been identified as an α -KG-dependent dioxygenase with the ability to activate the decarboxylation of α -KG in the presence of iron(II) and ascorbic acid.¹⁶⁸ Photocross-linking-based mRNA-bound proteomics profilings have revealed ALKBH5 as a potential mRNA-binding protein.^{170,171} Little was known about the biological roles of ALKBH5 until very recently, however, when our group successfully characterized this protein as a mammalian RNA demethylase capable of removing the methyl group of m⁶A from RNA both in vitro and in vivo.²⁴

Recombinant ALKBH5 has been shown to efficiently demethylate m⁶A-containing nucleic acids in vitro. Indeed, knockdown of ALKBH5 in HeLa cells for 48 h resulted in a ~9% increase of the m⁶A level in total mRNA, whereas overexpression of ALKBH5 for 24 h led to a ~29% decrease of the m⁶A level in total mRNA. Therefore, m⁶A in mRNA is the primary physiologically relevant substrate for ALKBH5, although m⁶A in other RNA species, such as rRNA and lncRNA, could also serve as potential substrates.²⁴

ALKBH5 exhibits higher demethylation activity toward m⁶Acontaining consensus sequences than nonconsensus sequences.²⁴ Similarly to FTO, ALKBH5 prefers to demethylate m⁶A in single-stranded substrates over double-stranded ones.²⁴ Crystallographic studies revealed a unique loop presented in ALKBH5 that confers single-stranded substrate selectivity (Figure 9B).¹⁷² In contrast to FTO, neither hm⁶A nor f⁶A can be detected when m⁶A undergoes oxidative demethylation by ALKBH5, perhaps because of differences in the protein active sites (Figure 10).¹⁷³ A structure of substrate-bound ALKBH5 will be valuable for further understanding both its substrate selectivity and its catalytic mechanism.

ALKBH5 colocalizes with nuclear speckles that are rich in various mRNA processing factors. ALKBH5 appears to play a broad role in mRNA transport and other RNA metabolism pathways in an m⁶A-demethylation-dependent manner.²⁴ In addition, knockout of the *Alkbh5* gene in mice led to increased m⁶A levels in mRNA isolated from mouse organs compared to those of wild-type littermates, supporting the hypothesis that



Figure 11. Structure of ALKBH8 (PDB ID 3THT). The N-terminal RRM domain (residues 25-122) and the AlkB domain (131-339) are colored in yellow and blue, respectively. The loop connecting these two domains is colored in magenta. The C-terminal structural zinc(II)-binding site is shown in red. The manganese(II) ion in the active site is shown in orange, whereas the zinc(II) ion in the structural zinc(II)-binding site is shown in gray. α -KG is labeled in green; protein residues are labeled in white.

m⁶A in mRNA is a physiologically relevant substrate for ALKBH5. *Alkbh5*-deficient mice display impaired male fertility resulting from compromised spermatogenesis, aberrant apoptosis, and altered gene expression in the testes.²⁴ Considered alongside the unearthing of FTO as an RNA demethylase, this discovery points to the broad functions in mammals played by dynamic methylation/demethylation of m⁶A in RNA.

4. OTHER ALKB HOMOLOGUES

In addition to the four AlkB homologues described above, other AlkB homologues have also been shown to catalyze oxidative reactions and play functional roles in biological systems. So far, only ALKBH8 has been conclusively identified as a tRNA hypermodification enzyme. ALKBH6 has no documented function. The functions of the other homologues are still unclear. Further investigation is required to unravel the enigma of these proteins.

4.1. ALKBH8

The ALKBH8 protein is the only tRNA-hypermodification enzyme characterized in the AlkB family. In addition to the AlkB domain, ALKBH8 also contains a N-terminal RNArecognition motif (RRM) and a C-terminal Trm9-like methyltransferase domain.^{174–177} ALKBH8 has been thought to contribute to bladder cancer progression by increasing the production of reactive oxygen species.¹⁷⁸ ALKBH8 is conserved in most multicellular eukaryotes, from plants (*A. thaliana*), worms (*C. elegans*), and insects (*A. mellifera*) to mammals.¹⁷⁷ Knockdown of ALKBH8 leads to a fatal defect in cardiac development in *D. melanogaster*,¹⁷⁹ whereas an internal deletion in the gene encoding ALKBH8 results in embryonic lethality or sterility in animals surviving to adulthood in *C. elegans*.¹⁸⁰ The expression of the ALKBH8 protein is also temporally and spatially regulated. ALKBH8 is widespread in larvae, yet expressed only in a small number of neurons in adult *C. elegans.*¹⁸¹

The crystal structure of the RRM and AlkB domain of ALKBH8 indicates that the binding between the RRM domain and RNA is strong but largely nonspecific, with a basic N-terminal α -helix that makes critical contributions to its binding capabilities (Figure 11).¹⁸¹ The protein loops that interact with the nucleotide substrate are completely disordered, and a disorder-to-order transition is likely responsible for this substrate specificity. The iron(II)-binding site in ALKBH8 is solvent-exposed, which might lead to uncoupled α -KG turnover. However, in the absence of nucleic acid substrate, the basal α -KG oxidation level of ALKBH8 is lower than that of AlkB. This lowered α -KG turnover of ALKBH8 has been attributed to the catalytically inactive orientation of α -KG and Arg334 in the active site, which requires a conformational change upon tRNA binding to be catalytically active.¹⁸¹

The Trm9-like methyltransferase domain of ALKBH8 catalyzes the methylation of 5-carboxymethyluridine (cm⁵U) to 5-methoxycarbonylmethyluridine (mcm⁵U) in tRNAs with UPyN (Py = C/U) as an anticodon triplet sequence, whereas the AlkB domain catalyzes the hydroxylation of mcm⁵U to S-5-(methoxycarbonylhydroxymethyl)uridine [(S)-mchm⁵U] specifically in tRNA^{Gly}_(UCC) (Figure 12).^{174,176,182} ALKBH8 is the first enzyme found in the AlkB family that mediates the process of hydroxylation instead of the process of demethylation of nucleic acids.^{175,183} ALKBH8 uses a mechanism similar to that of other AlkB family proteins. However, the hydroxylation product is stable because the hydroxyl group is at the 5- α position, which is connected to a stable C—C bond instead of the C—N linkage that leads to decomposition in water. The additional hydroxyl group has been thought to enhance certain codon–codon interactions and might promote its ability to decode specific codons.¹⁸³ The decoding ability of the total



S-5-(methoxycarbonylhydroxymethyl) uridine ((S)-mchm⁵U) uridine (mcm⁵U)

Figure 12. ALKBH8 catalyzes the hypermodification of tRNA wobble uridine. The Trm9-like methyltransferase domain of ALKBH8 catalyzes the methylation of cm^5U to mcm^5U in several tRNAs, and the AlkB-like domain of ALKBH8 catalyzes the hydroxylation of mcm^5U to (*S*)-mchm⁵U in tRNA^{Gly}(UCC).

tRNA pool can regulate the translation of individual mRNA depending on the codon bias of the specific mRNA. Therefore, the identification and characterization of genes that are translationally affected by these modifications represents an interesting future research direction to explore.

4.2. ALKBH1, -4, and -7

4.2.1. ALKBH1. The first human protein described as a functional AlkB homologue was ALKBH1,95 which shows the strongest similarity to AlkB.⁹⁷ Potential demethylation activity toward m¹A and m³C was not detected right away, however.^{82,109} Later, as progress was made, disputes arose among different researchers regarding the expression levels, enzymatic activities, and biological roles of ALKBH1. Overall, ALKBH1 is widely expressed in human tissues. The highest mRNA expression levels were detected using North blots in heart and skeletal muscles.¹⁸⁴ On the basis of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and microarray analysis, however, the spleen was reported to have the highest level of ALKBH1.185,186 In terms of activity, one study suggested that ALKBH1 might exhibit demethylation activity toward m³C in vitro.¹⁸⁴ A different study detected lyase activity of ALKBH1 at abasic sites independent of iron(II) or α -KG.^{187–189} Recently, another group demonstrated that ALKBH1 could serve as a histone dioxygenase that acts specifically on histone H2A in vitro and in vivo.¹⁹⁰ The biological significance of the oxidation functions discovered for ALKBH1 remains unclear. Alkbh1-deficient mice display sex-ratio distortion and impaired differentiation in placental trophoblast lineage and neurons.¹⁹⁰⁻¹⁹³

4.2.2. ALKBH4. ALKBH4 has been found to activate the decarboxylation of α -KG, yet so far, it has not been observed to demethylate nucleic acid substrates.^{110,194} Yeast two-hybrid screens identified its potential protein partners that interact with DNA or chromatin, suggesting that ALKBH4 might play a role in gene regulation.¹⁹⁵ Very recently, ALKBH4 was shown to mediate the demethylation of a monomethylated site in actin (K84me1) in vivo to perhaps regulate the actin–myosin interaction as well as actomyosin-dependent processes such as cytokinesis and cell migration.¹⁹⁶ Such an ALKBH4-mediated regulation of actomyosin dynamics is dependent on the

conserved residues of the active-site pocket (Figure 7), suggesting the involvement of its catalytic activity. Further efforts are needed to biochemically verify this demethylation reaction in vitro. Whereas the overexpression of ALKBH4 only marginally alters the global gene expression pattern in the HEK293 cell line, homozygous *Alkbh4* mutant mice display early embryonic lethality, ^{195,196} which indicates that *Alkbh4* plays an essential role in early developmental processes.

4.2.3. ALKBH7. ALKBH7 is a mitochondrial resident protein that does not manifest repair activity toward nucleic acid substrates.^{110,197} Required for alkylation- and oxidation-induced programmed necrosis, human ALKBH7 triggers the collapse of the mitochondrial membrane and initiates large-scale loss of mitochondrial function that leads to energy depletion and cellular demise.¹⁹⁸ Deletion of *Alkbh7* in mice dramatically increases body weight and body fat, an indication of its involvement in fatty acid metabolism.¹⁹⁷

5. TET FAMILY DIOXYGENASES

5.1. Active DNA Demethylation in Mammals

DNA methylation in the form of 5mC numbers among the best-characterized epigenetic modifications and is essential for genomic imprinting, gene regulation, and development in mammals.^{29,199} Methylation patterns are initially established by de novo DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), namely, DNMT3A and DNMT3B,^{28,200} and then maintained by the maintenance methyltransferase of DNMT1 during DNA replication.^{201,202} The proper function of DNA methylation requires the dynamic regulation of reciprocal processes. Although enzymes that catalyze DNA methylation have been well characterized, the demethylation process in mammals remained elusive for several decades before the discovery of TET enzymes and 5hmC.^{30,203}

DNA methylation could be lost at the newly synthesized DNA strand during replication in the absence of DNMT1, which has been termed passive demethylation. However, such replication-dependent passive demethylation cannot explain all cellular demethylation events. For example, immediately after fertilization the male pronucleus observably loses almost all SmC.²⁰⁴ The genetic materials from the sperm and the egg have not yet fused to form one nucleus; rapid demethylation at this stage could therefore not result from replication, thus suggesting an alternative active demethylation pathway. Indeed, TET proteins have been found to catalyze the sequential oxidation of SmC to ShmC, SfC, and ScaC.^{30–33} The resulting SfC and ScaC could be removed by thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) and replaced with unmethylated cytosine through BER.

5.2. TET Proteins and Mechanism of Oxidation

As a product of the TET-mediated oxidation of SmC, ShmC was found to be highly abundant in the genome of neuron cells and mouse embryonic stem cells (ESC).^{30,203} This enzymatic activity of TET resembles that of thymine hydroxylase, which can successively oxidize the methyl group on the thymine base to its alcohol, aldehyde, and carboxylic acid forms.²⁰⁵ Thymine hydroxylase belongs to the family of Fe^{II}/ α -KG-dependent dioxygenases, and computational analysis has identified homologues of thymine hydroxylases in mammals, including TET family proteins.^{206,207} TET proteins (TET1–TET3) were initially identified as a fusion partner of the histone H3K4 methyltransferase MLL (mixed-lineage leukemia).^{208,209} They contain several conserved domains, including a CXXC region that specifically recognizes clustered unmethylated CpG

Review



Figure 13. Domain architecture of TET proteins. (A) TET proteins contain a DNA-binding CXXC region in the N-terminus and a catalytic core in the C-terminus. The catalytic core is composed of a Cys-rich region and a DSBH fold. The number of amino acids for each protein is indicated. Sequence alignment of the catalytic motif is shown. Sequences used in the alignment include AlkB, *Trypanosoma brucei* JBP1 (tbJBP1), tbJBP2, human TET1–TET3, and mouse Tet1–Tet3. Conserved iron(II)- and α -KG-binding sites are highlighted in red columns. (B) Crystal structure of the human TET2 bound to a SmC-containing dsDNA (PDB ID 4NM6). The Cys-rich region (residues 1129–1312) and DSBH core (residues 1313–1936) are colored in yellow and red, respectively. The active-site iron is shown in orange, the α -KG analogue of NOG in green, structural zinc ions in gray, protein residues in white, flipped 5mC in blue, DNA backbone in beige, bases in the 5mC-containing DNA strand in cyan, and bases in the complementary strand in purple.

dinucleotides, a cysteine-rich region, and an α -KG dioxygenase DSBH core fold (Figure 13A).^{29,210} Biochemical and crystallographic studies have revealed that the CXXC region binds to the unmodified cytosine; this region is thought to target unmethylated cytosine clusters.²¹¹ The other two domains are responsible for catalytic activity both in vitro and in vivo.²¹² The DSBH fold of TET proteins, featured in all dioxygenases, contains the signature HXDX_nH motif to coordinate iron(II) and a conserved R residue for α -KG binding. A putative iron(IV)-oxo species is generated to oxidize the inert C-H bond of 5mC to form 5hmC, 5fC, and 5caC in a nonprocessive manner. Consistent with this mechanism, introducing mutations into the iron-binding sites or adding common inhibitors of α -KG-dependent dioxygenases to TET proteins would abolish their activity.^{30,212,213} The ability to initiate iterative oxidation of 5mC, 5hmC, and 5fC suggests the existence of a less selective substrate-binding site to accommodate all of these substrates. The structure of the catalytic domain of human TET2 has just been reported (Figure 13B); this research shows that the Cys-rich region folds around the DSBH domain, thus

confirming that the region is essential to catalytic activity.²¹⁴ The substrate-binding pocket in the active site contains residues that can accommodate different modifications of SmC, as expected.²¹⁴ It will be very interesting to further dissect the substrate recognition and oxidation mechanism with the structure now available.

Although the TET1–TET3 proteins all have the ability to oxidize 5mC, their functions and expression levels vary among cell types and tissues. Mouse Tet1 and Tet2 are highly expressed in ESC cells. They have been proposed to regulate pluripotency and lineage differentiation.²¹⁰ On the other hand, mouse Tet3 protein is specifically enriched in the paternal pronucleus at the zygotic stage. This enrichment concurs with the loss of 5mC and the appearance of 5hmC in the paternal genome,^{215–217} thereby suggesting that mouse Tet3 plays a critical role in zygotic epigenetic reprogramming.

5.3. TET-Mediated DNA Demethylation

In contrast to methylation on nitrogen, methylation on the carbon atom is much more challenging to reverse because of the inert nature of the C-C bond under physiological

conditions. Therefore, all of the oxidative derivatives, namely, ShmC, 5fC, and 5caC, are quite stable under cellular conditions. Although oxidation of 5mC could be functionally regarded as "demethylation" given that the oxidized derivatives are more hydrophilic and would recognize binding proteins different from 5mC, the complete reversion of methylation nevertheless requires additional processes for conversion.

In addition to the passive demethylation as the oxidized cytosine derivatives are diluted during replication, three replication-independent demethylation mechanisms have been proposed following TET-catalyzed 5mC oxidation (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Dynamic regulation of cytosine methylation/demethylation in mammalian genomic DNA. The DNA 5mC pattern is established and maintained by DNMTs, but can undergo either passive dilution during replication or active TET-mediated demethylation.

Biochemically confirmed, the first mechanism recruits TDG to excise 5fC or 5caC to generate an abasic site that is then replaced by cytosine through the BER pathway.^{31,218,219} The second mechanism proposes the deamination of 5hmC to form 5-hydroxyuracil (5-hmU) by AID (activation-induced cytidine deaminase) and APOBEC (apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like) family proteins. 5hmC is then removed by TDG or SMUG1 (single-stranded-selective monofunctional uracil DNA glycosylase 1) and finally repaired by BER.²²⁰ This mechanism is still under debate because purified AID/APOBEC deaminases disfavor modified cytosines in vitro.²²¹ Although not yet revealed, the third mechanism proposes a putative decarboxylase to directly convert 5caC to cytosine.²²²

Deeply involved in these demethylation processes, TDG is a member of the uracil DNA glycosylase (UDG) superfamily that flips and excises modified bases in dsDNA and initiates BER.^{223,224} TDG was first shown to remove mismatched pyrimidines from G–U and G–T pairs in dsDNA. TDG was found only recently to recognize TET-oxidized derivatives of 5caC and 5fC and participate in TET-mediated active demethylation in mammals.^{31,218} In fact, TDG exhibits a slightly higher binding affinity toward G–SfC and G–5caC base pairs than toward G–U and G–T mismatches.²¹⁹ The crystal structure of the TDG catalytic domain in complex with

ScaC-containing dsDNA reveals its preference for ScaC over other bases.²¹⁹ These lines of evidence suggest that, instead of DNA repair, DNA demethylation might be the primary function of TDG, supporting its critical role in transcriptional regulation and mouse embryonic development.^{225,226}

5.4. 5mC Oxidation Derivatives 5hmC, 5fC, and 5caC

Nucleic acids can be oxidized to yield various oxidative lesions.³ The presence of 5hmC in the mammalian genome as a potential nonenzymatic oxidation product has been proposed for decades.²²⁷ Now recognized as products of TET-mediated 5mC oxidation, 5hmC, 5fC, and 5caC are chemically stable under physiological conditions, which might enable them to serve as potential epigenetic markers with biological functions besides their role as demethylation intermediates. To effectively explore these roles, massive sequencing methods have been developed to profile them genome-wide and with base resolution and to gain precise distribution information.²²⁸ The sequencing data together with other evidence suggest that ShmC could be a regulatory marker in addition to its role as a transient oxidative intermediate.^{229,230} ShmC is not as evenly distributed as 5mC. 5hmC is most abundant in ESCs and brain tissues (\sim 1% of total cytosines) with distinct patterns.³² This modification is enriched at distal regulatory elements in ESCs, whereas it is enriched at the 5mC-depleted gene bodies of neuronal function-related genes.^{231,232} Specific 5hmC-binding proteins have been identified, some of which can result in altered chromatin structures and gene expression.²³²

In contrast to 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC are much less abundant, and their levels are consistently lower among all cells and tissues examined so far,³² suggesting that 5fC and 5caC are more likely committed as transient demethylation intermediates. In mouse ESCs, the distribution of 5fC and 5caC represents the portion of 5hmC undergoing demethylation, with a preference for distal regulatory elements.^{233,234} However, further investigation is required to fully depict these intermediates.

6. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVE

In this review, we have discussed the versatile oxidations of methyl groups in nucleic acids mediated by Fe^{II}/α -KGdependent dioxygenases, from DNA repair to RNA/DNA demethylation. The discovery of oxidative demethylation mediated by AlkB in DNA repair opened up this new paradigm. Nine human homologues of AlkB proteins have vividly illustrated the diverse manner in which such a mechanism can affect cellular functions and regulations. Whereas some of the homologues have been well studied to debunk the myths of biological pathways, functions of other homologues are still unclear and call for further efforts. The discoveries of oxidative demethylation of epigenetic RNA and DNA methylations have added additional layers of complexity to gene expression regulation. Identification of specific binding proteins for all of these novel modifications represents a future research direction that is required to reveal their biological functions.^{163,235} Interest in RNA methylation has been revived owing to the recent identification of RNA m⁶A demethylases, yet a full characterization of the RNA m⁶A methyltransferase remains important.¹⁶¹ High-throughput sequencing methods with base-level resolution are particularly urgent to precisely define RNA methylomes. Reversible DNA methylation will continue to attract extensive attention from researchers in broad areas of biology and medicine. The enigma of

demethylation events and the ways in which demethylation contributes to differentiation and development have yet to be fully resolved. Our knowledge of these oxidation reactions will persist in driving present and future efforts to further uncover the biological significance of these processes and to develop potential therapies that will take advantage of the critical functions of these proteins.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*Phone: 773-702-5061. Fax: 773-702-0805. E-mail: chuanhe@ uchicago.edu.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies



Chuan He is a Professor in the Department of Chemistry and Director of the Institute for Biophysical Dynamics at the University of Chicago. He is also a joint Professor in the Department of Chemical Biology and Director of the Synthetic and Functional Biomolecules Center at Peking University. He was born in P. R. China in 1972 and received his B.S. (1994) from the University of Science and Technology of China. He received his Ph.D. degree in Chemistry from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 2000. After being trained as a Damon Runyon postdoctoral fellow at Harvard University from 2000 to 2002, he joined the University of Chicago as an assistant professor and was promoted to associate professor in 2008 and full professor in 2010. He is also a member of the Cancer Research Center at the University of Chicago. His research spans a broad range of chemical biology, bioinorganic chemistry, molecular biology, biochemistry, cell biology, structural biology, and genomics. He was recently selected as an Investigator of the Howard Hughes Medical Institute in 2013.



Guanqun Zheng received her B.S. degree from Nanjing University in Biochemistry (2007) and her Ph.D. degree from the University of Chicago in Chemistry (2013). She is interested in chemical modifications in biology, including the investigation of RNA methylations, characterization of modification enzymes, exploration of modification-mediated epigenetic processes, and development of sequencing methods. She is currently a postdoctoral fellow in Dr. Tao Pan's laboratory at the University of Chicago, where she is focusing on tRNA modifications and functional RNA genomics. In addition to science, she is also fond of making friends, volunteering at social events, and watching movies.



Ye Fu was born in Jiangxi, P. R. China, in 1986 and received his B.S. (2007) in Chemistry from Peking University. He then moved to the United States and began to work on the chemical biology of nucleic acid modifications in Dr. Chuan He's laboratory at the University of Chicago. Since then, he has focused on the dynamic regulation of RNA modifications by ALKBH8 and FTO proteins, as well as the dynamic regulation of other DNA modifications. He received his Ph.D. degree in 2012 from the University of Chicago. Upon graduation, he continued as a postdoctoral researcher in Dr. He's laboratory working on the genomics of nucleic acids modifications. He will be a postdoctoral fellow in Dr. Xiaowei Zhuang's laboratory at Harvard University starting in 2014. He has been a recipient of a Weil Endowed Graduate Fellowship (2011), Chinese Government Award for Outstanding Students Abroad (2011), and Yang Cao-Lan-Xian Best Thesis Award in Organic/Inorganic Chemistry (2013). In addition to science, he also enjoys outdoor activities such as hiking, rock climbing, and skiing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. L. Zhang for discussions and insight and S. F. Reichard for editing the manuscript. We apologize for any references that we might have omitted due to space limitations. This study was supported by the National Institutes of Health (GM071440).

ABBREVIATIONS

5caC	5-carboxylcytosine
5fC	5-formylcytosine
5hmC	5-hydroxymethylcytosine
5-hmU	5-hydroxyuracil
5mC	5-methylcytosine
AID	activation-induced cytidine deaminase
ALKBH5	AlkB homologue 5
APOBEC	apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, cata-
	lytic polypeptide-like

ASCC3	Activating signal cointegrator 1 complex subunit
	3
BCNU	1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea
BER	base-excision repair
CAA	chloroacetaldehyde
CEO	chloroethylene oxide
cm ⁵ U	5-carboxymethyluridine
DME	Demeter
DNIL	de neuro DNA methyltrenefernes
DINMI	de novo DINA methyltransferase
DSDH	double-stranded <i>p</i> -nelix
dsDNA	double-stranded DNA
EA	1,N°-ethanoadenine
ESC	embryonic stem cells
f°А	N°-formyladenosine
Ft	fused toe
FTO	fat mass and obesity-associated
GWAS	genome-wide association study
HIF-1 α	hypoxia-inducible factor 1α
hm ⁶ A	N ⁶ -hydroxymethyladenosine
IP	immunoprecipitation
IBP	I-binding protein
IHDM	Jumonii C domain-containing historie demethy-
<i>j</i> ¹¹ <i>2</i> ¹¹	lase
ImiC	Jumonii C
IncRNA	long noncoding RNA
$m^{1}\Lambda$	N ¹ mathyladanina
$m^{1}C$	N^1 mathyladenine
$m^{3}C$	N ³ mathylantasina
3T	N -methylcylosine
m ⁻ 1	N ² -methylthymine
m°U	N [°] -methyluracil
m°A	N°-methyladenosine
mcm ³ U	5-methoxycarbonylmethyluridine
MLL	mixed-lineage leukemia
MMS	methylmethane sulfonate
MNU	<i>N</i> -methyl- <i>N</i> ′-nitrosourea
mRNA	messenger RNA
PDB	Protein Data Bank
PDT	photodynamic therapy
PRMT7	protein arginine methyltransferase 7
ROS	repressor of silencing
RRM	RNA-recognition motif
rRNA	ribosomal RNA
SAM	S-adenosylmethionine
(S)-mchm ⁵ U	S-5-(methoxycarbonylhydroxymethyl)uridine
SMUG1	single-stranded-selective monofunctional uracil
	DNA glycosylase 1
snRNA	small nuclear RNA
ssDNA	single-stranded DNA
TDG	thymine DNA glycosylase
TET	ten-eleven translocation
tRNA	transfer RNA
UDC	uracil DNA ducosulase
VC	vinul chlorido
a KC	a katadutarata
a-NG	1 No athenaadanina
en eC	1,1 -ethenometacine
23	Juv -eulenocytosine

REFERENCES

(1) Cantoni, G. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1952, 74, 2942.

(2) Walport, L. J.; Hopkinson, R. J.; Schofield, C. J. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2012, 16, 525.

(3) Drablos, F.; Feyzi, E.; Aas, P. A.; Vaagbo, C. B.; Kavli, B.; Bratlie, M. S.; Pena-Diaz, J.; Otterlei, M.; Slupphaug, G.; Krokan, H. E. DNA Repair 2004, 3, 1389. (4) Singer, B.; Grunberger, D. Molecular Biology of Mutagens and Carcinogens; Plenum Press: New York, 1983. (5) Beranek, D. T. Mutat. Res. 1990, 231, 11. (6) Sedgwick, B. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2004, 5, 148. (7) Mishina, Y.; He, C. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2006, 100, 670. (8) Trewick, S. C.; Henshaw, T. F.; Hausinger, R. P.; Lindahl, T.; Sedgwick, B. Nature 2002, 419, 174. (9) Falnes, P. Ø.; Johansen, R. F.; Seeberg, E. Nature 2002, 419, 178. (10) Bannister, A. J.; Kouzarides, T. Nature 2005, 436, 1103. (11) Chen, D.; Ma, H.; Hong, H.; Koh, S. S.; Huang, S. M.; Schurter, B. T.; Aswad, D. W.; Stallcup, M. R. Science 1999, 284, 2174. (12) Wang, H. B.; Huang, Z. Q.; Xia, L.; Feng, Q.; Erdjument-Bromage, H.; Strahl, B. D.; Briggs, S. D.; Allis, C. D.; Wong, J. M.; Tempst, P.; Zhang, Y. Science 2001, 293, 853. (13) Strahl, B. D.; Briggs, S. D.; Brame, C. J.; Caldwell, J. A.; Koh, S. S.; Ma, H.; Cook, R. G.; Shabanowitz, J.; Hunt, D. F.; Stallcup, M. R.; Allis, C. D. Curr. Biol. 2001, 11, 996. (14) Borun, T. W.; Pearson, D.; Paik, W. K. J. Biol. Chem. 1972, 247, 4288. (15) Gershey, E. L.; Haslett, G. W.; Vidali, G.; Allfrey, V. G. J. Biol. Chem. 1969, 244, 4871. (16) Martin, C.; Zhang, Y. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2005, 6, 838. (17) Greer, E. L.; Shi, Y. Nat. Rev. Genet. 2012, 13, 343. (18) Tsukada, Y.; Fang, J.; Erdjument-Bromage, H.; Warren, M. E.; Borchers, C. H.; Tempst, P.; Zhang, Y. Nature 2006, 439, 811. (19) Grosjean, H. Fine-Tuning of RNA Functions by Modification and Editing; Springer: Berlin, 2005. (20) Cantara, W. A.; Crain, P. F.; Rozenski, J.; McCloskey, J. A.; Harris, K. A.; Zhang, X.; Vendeix, F. A.; Fabris, D.; Agris, P. F. Nucleic Acids Res. 2011, 39, D195. (21) Machnicka, M. A.; Milanowska, K.; Osman Oglou, O.; Purta, E.; Kurkowska, M.; Olchowik, A.; Januszewski, W.; Kalinowski, S.; Dunin-Horkawicz, S.; Rother, K. M.; Helm, M.; Bujnicki, J. M.; Grosjean, H. Nucleic Acids Res. 2013, 41, D262. (22) He, C. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2010, 6, 863. (23) Jia, G.; Fu, Y.; Zhao, X.; Dai, Q.; Zheng, G.; Yang, Y.; Yi, C.; Lindahl, T.; Pan, T.; Yang, Y. G.; He, C. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2011, 7, 885. (24) Zheng, G.; Dahl, J. A.; Niu, Y.; Fedorcsak, P.; Huang, C. M.; Li, C. J.; Vågbø, C. B.; Shi, Y.; Wang, W. L.; Song, S. H.; Lu, Z.; Bosmans, R. P.; Dai, Q.; Hao, Y. J.; Yang, X.; Zhao, W. M.; Tong, W. M.; Wang, X. J.; Bogdan, F.; Furu, K.; Fu, Y.; Jia, G.; Zhao, X.; Liu, J.; Krokan, H. E.; Klungland, A.; Yang, Y. G.; He, C. Mol. Cell 2013, 49, 18. (25) Suzuki, M. M.; Bird, A. Nat. Rev. Genet. 2008, 9, 465. (26) Zhu, J. K. Annu. Rev. Genet. 2009, 43, 143. (27) Li, E.; Bestor, T. H.; Jaenisch, R. Cell 1992, 69, 915. (28) Okano, M.; Bell, D. W.; Haber, D. A.; Li, E. Cell 1999, 99, 247. (29) Smith, Z. D.; Meissner, A. Nat. Rev. Genet. 2013, 14, 204. (30) Tahiliani, M.; Koh, K. P.; Shen, Y. H.; Pastor, W. A.; Bandukwala, H.; Brudno, Y.; Agarwal, S.; Iyer, L. M.; Liu, D. R.; Aravind, L.; Rao, A. Science 2009, 324, 930. (31) He, Y. F.; Li, B. Z.; Li, Z.; Liu, P.; Wang, Y.; Tang, Q. Y.; Ding, J. P.; Jia, Y. Y.; Chen, Z. C.; Li, L.; Sun, Y.; Li, X. X.; Dai, Q.; Song, C. X.; Zhang, K. L.; He, C.; Xu, G. L. Science 2011, 333, 1303. (32) Ito, S.; Shen, L.; Dai, Q.; Wu, S. C.; Collins, L. B.; Swenberg, J. A.; He, C.; Zhang, Y. Science 2011, 333, 1300. (33) Pfaffeneder, T.; Hackner, B.; Truss, M.; Münzel, M.; Müller, M.; Deiml, C. A.; Hagemeier, C.; Carell, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 7008. (34) Kataoka, H.; Yamamoto, Y.; Sekiguchi, M. J. Bacteriol. 1983, 153, 1301. (35) Schofield, C. J.; Zhang, Z. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 1999, 9, 722. (36) Samson, L.; Derfler, B.; Waldstein, E. A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.

U.S.A. 1986, 83, 5607.

(37) Volkert, M. R.; Gately, F. H.; Hajec, L. I. *Mutat. Res.* **1989**, *217*, 109.

(38) Chen, B. J.; Carroll, P.; Samson, L. J. Bacteriol. 1994, 176, 6255.

- (39) Dinglay, S.; Gold, B.; Sedgwick, B. Mutat. Res. 1998, 407, 109.
- (40) Kataoka, H.; Sekiguchi, M. Mol. Genet. Genomics 1985, 198, 263.
- (41) Kondo, H.; Nakabeppu, Y.; Kataoka, H.; Kuhara, S.; Kawabata, S.; Sekiguchi, M. J. Biol. Chem. **1986**, 261, 15772.
- (42) Aravind, L.; Koonin, E. V. Genome Biol. 2001, 2, research0007.
- (43) Koivisto, P.; Robins, P.; Lindahl, T.; Sedgwick, B. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 40470.
- (44) Delaney, J. C.; Essigmann, J. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 14051.
- (45) Sedgwick, B.; Robins, P.; Lindahl, T. Methods Enzymol. 2006, 408, 108.
- (46) Maciejewska, A. M.; Sokolowska, B.; Nowicki, A.; Kusmierek, J. T. *Mutagenesis* **2011**, *26*, 401.

(47) Mishina, Y.; Yang, C. G.; He, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 14594.

(48) Yu, B.; Hunt, J. F. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2009, 106, 14315.

(49) Delaney, J. C.; Smeester, L.; Wong, C.; Frick, L. E.; Taghizadeh, K.; Wishnok, J. S.; Drennan, C. L.; Samson, L. D.; Essigmann, J. M.

Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. **2005**, *12*, 855. (50) Kang, T. M.; Yuan, J.; Nguyen, A.; Becket, E.; Yang, H.; Miller,

J. H. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 2012, 56, 3216. (51) Kim, M. Y.; Zhou, X.; Delaney, J. C.; Taghizadeh, K.; Dedon, P.

- (c) Kini, Ki. 1., Zhou, K., Delancy, J. C., Faginzaden, R., Dedon, F. C.; Essigmann, J. M.; Wogan, G. N. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **2007**, *20*, 1075.
- (52) Maciejewska, A. M.; Ruszel, K. P.; Nieminuszczy, J.; Lewicka, J.; Sokolowska, B.; Grzesiuk, E.; Kusmierek, J. T. *Mutat. Res.* **2010**, 684, 24.
- (53) Li, D.; Delaney, J. C.; Page, C. M.; Chen, A. S.; Wong, C.; Drennan, C. L.; Essigmann, J. M. J. Nucleic Acids 2010, 2010, 369434.
- (54) Barbin, A.; Bartsch, H.; Leconte, P.; Radman, M. Nucleic Acids Res. 1981, 9, 375.

(55) el Ghissassi, F.; Barbin, A.; Nair, J.; Bartsch, H. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 1995, 8, 278.

- (56) Li, D.; Delaney, J. C.; Page, C. M.; Yang, X.; Chen, A. S.; Wong, C.; Drennan, C. L.; Essigmann, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2012**, 134, 8896.
- (57) Frick, L. E.; Delaney, J. C.; Wong, C.; Drennan, C. L.; Essigmann, J. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2007, 104, 755.

(58) Ludlum, D. B. Mutat. Res. 1990, 233, 117.

- (59) Maciejewska, A. M.; Poznanski, J.; Kaczmarska, Z.; Krowisz, B.; Nieminuszczy, J.; Polkowska-Nowakowska, A.; Grzesiuk, E.; Kusmierek, J. T. J. Biol. Chem. **2013**, 288, 432.
- (60) Yi, C.; Jia, G.; Hou, G.; Dai, Q.; Zhang, W.; Zheng, G.; Jian, X.; Yang, C. G.; Cui, Q.; He, C. *Nature* **2010**, *468*, 330.
- (61) Koivisto, P.; Duncan, T.; Lindahl, T.; Sedgwick, B. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 44348.
- (62) Mishina, Y.; Chen, L. X.; He, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 16930.
- (63) Henshaw, T. F.; Feig, M.; Hausinger, R. P. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2004, 98, 856.
- (64) Liu, H.; Llano, J.; Gauld, J. W. J. Phys. Chem. B 2009, 113, 4887.
 (65) Cisneros, G. A. Interdiscip. Sci.: Comput. Life Sci. 2010, 2, 70.
- (66) Bleijlevens, B.; Shivarattan, T.; van den Boom, K. S.; de Haan, A.; van der Zwan, G.; Simpson, P. J.; Matthews, S. J. *Biochemistry* **2012**, *51*, 3334.
- (67) Que, L., Jr. Acc. Chem. Res. 2007, 40, 493.
- (68) Bleijlevens, B.; Shivarattan, T.; Sedgwick, B.; Rigby, S. E.; Matthews, S. J. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2007, 101, 1043.
- (69) Bleijlevens, B.; Shivarattan, T.; Flashman, E.; Yang, Y.; Simpson, P. J.; Koivisto, P.; Sedgwick, B.; Schofield, C. J.; Matthews, S. J. *EMBO Rep.* **2008**, *9*, 872.
- (70) Shivarattan, T.; Chen, H. A.; Simpson, P.; Sedgwick, B.; Matthews, S. J. Biomol. NMR 2005, 33, 138.
- (71) Yu, B.; Edstrom, W. C.; Benach, J.; Hamuro, Y.; Weber, P. C.; Gibney, B. R.; Hunt, J. F. *Nature* **2006**, *439*, 879.
- (72) Chen, H.; Costa, M. Biometals 2009, 22, 191.
- (73) Chervona, Y.; Arita, A.; Costa, M. Metallomics: Integr. Biometal Sci. 2012, 4, 619.
- (74) Welford, R. W.; Schlemminger, I.; McNeill, L. A.; Hewitson, K. S.; Schofield, C. J. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 10157.

- (75) Roy, T. W.; Bhagwat, A. S. Nucleic Acids Res. 2007, 35, e147.
- (76) Karkhanina, A. A.; Mecinovic, J.; Musheev, M. U.; Krylova, S. M.; Petrov, A. P.; Hewitson, K. S.; Flashman, E.; Schofield, C. J.; Krylov, S. N. *Anal. Chem.* **2009**, *81*, 5871.
- (77) Krylova, S. M.; Karkhanina, A. A.; Musheev, M. U.; Bagg, E. A. L.; Schofield, C. J.; Krylov, S. N. Anal. Biochem. **2011**, 414, 261.
- (78) Woon, E. C. Y.; Demetriades, M.; Bagg, E. A. L.; Aik, W.;
- Krylova, S. M.; Ma, J. H. Y.; Chan, M. C.; Walport, L. J.; Wegman, D.
 W.; Dack, K. N.; McDonough, M. A.; Krylov, S. N.; Schofield, C. J. J.
 Med. Chem. 2012, 55, 2173.
- (79) Krylova, S. M.; Koshkin, V.; Bagg, E.; Schofield, C. J.; Krylov, S. N. J. Med. Chem. 2012, 55, 3546.
- (80) Holland, P. J.; Hollis, T. PLoS One 2010, 5, e8680.
- (81) Yi, C.; He, C. Cold Spring Harbor Perspect. Biol. 2013, 5, a012575.
- (82) Aas, P. A.; Otterlei, M.; Falnes, P. Ø.; Vågbø, C. B.; Skorpen, F.; Akbari, M.; Sundheim, O.; Bjoras, M.; Slupphaug, G.; Seeberg, E.; Krokan, H. E. *Nature* **2003**, *421*, 859.
- (83) Falnes, P. Ø.; Bjoras, M.; Aas, P. A.; Sundheim, O.; Seeberg, E. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004, 32, 3456.
- (84) Dinglay, S.; Trewick, S. C.; Lindahl, T.; Sedgwick, B. Genes Dev. 2000, 14, 2097.
- (85) Yang, H.; Zhan, Y.; Fenn, D.; Chi, L. M.; Lam, S. L. FEBS Lett. 2008, 582, 1629.
- (86) Yang, H.; Lam, S. L. FEBS Lett. 2009, 583, 1548.
- (87) Ougland, R.; Zhang, C. M.; Liiv, A.; Johansen, R. F.; Seeberg, E.; Hou, Y. M.; Remme, J.; Falnes, P. Ø. Mol. Cell **2004**, *16*, 107.
- (88) Begley, T. J.; Samson, L. D. Nature 2003, 421, 795.
- (89) Falnes, P. Ø. RNA Biol. 2005, 2, 14.

(90) Feyzi, E.; Sundheim, O.; Westbye, M. P.; Aas, P. A.; Vågbø, C. B.; Otterlei, M.; Slupphaug, G.; Krokan, H. E. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* **2007**, *8*, 326.

- (91) Vågbø, C. B.; Svaasand, E. K.; Aas, P. A.; Krokan, H. E. DNA Repair 2013, 12, 188.
- (92) Mishina, Y.; Lee, C. H.; He, C. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004, 32, 1548. (93) Yang, C. G.; Yi, C. Q.; Duguid, E. M.; Sullivan, C. T.; Jian, X.;
- Rice, P. A.; He, C. Nature 2008, 452, 961.
- (94) Sundheim, O.; Talstad, V. A.; Vågbø, C. B.; Slupphaug, G.; Krokan, H. E. DNA Repair 2008, 7, 1916.
- (95) Wei, Y. F.; Carter, K. C.; Wang, R. P.; Shell, B. K. Nucleic Acids Res. **1996**, 24, 931.
- (96) Colombi, D.; Gomes, S. L. J. Bacteriol. 1997, 179, 3139.
- (97) Kurowski, M. A.; Bhagwat, A. S.; Papaj, G.; Bujnicki, J. M. BMC Genomics **2003**, *4*, 48.
- (98) Bratlie, M. S.; Drablos, F. BMC Genomics 2005, 6.
- (99) van den Born, E.; Omelchenko, M. V.; Bekkelund, A.; Leihne, V.; Koonin, E. V.; Dolja, V. V.; Falnes, P. Ø. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2008, 36, 5451.
- (100) van den Born, E.; Bekkelund, A.; Moen, M. N.; Omelchenko,
- M. V.; Klungland, A.; Falnes, P. Ø. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009, 37, 7124. (101) Korvald, H.; Moe, A. M. M.; Cederkvist, F. H.; Thiede, B.;
- Laerdahl, J. K.; Bjoras, M.; Alseth, I. PLoS One **2011**, 6, e25188.
- (102) Mielecki, D.; Zugaj, D. L.; Muszewska, A.; Piwowarski, J.; Chojnacka, A.; Mielecki, M.; Nieminuszczy, J.; Grynberg, M.; Grzesiuk, E. *PLoS One* **2012**, *7*, e30588.
- (103) Simmons, J. M.; Koslowsky, D. J.; Hausinger, R. P. Exp. Parasitol. 2012, 131, 92.
- (104) Korvald, H.; Falnes, P. Ø.; Laerdahl, J. K.; Bjoras, M.; Alseth, I. DNA Repair **2012**, *11*, 453.
- (105) Sanchez-Pulido, L.; Andrade-Navarro, M. A. BMC Biochem. 2007, 8, 23.
- (106) Gerken, T.; Girard, C. A.; Tung, Y. C. L.; Webby, C. J.; Saudek, V.; Hewitson, K. S.; Yeo, G. S. H.; McDonough, M. A.; Cunliffe, S.; McNeill, L. A.; Galvanovskis, J.; Rorsman, P.; Robins, P.; Prieur, X.; Coll, A. P.; Ma, M.; Jovanovic, Z.; Farooqi, I. S.; Sedgwick, B.; Barroso, I.; Lindahl, T.; Ponting, C. P.; Ashcroft, F. M.; O'Rahilly, S.; Schofield, C. J. *Science* **2007**, *318*, 1469.
- (107) Aik, W.; McDonough, M. A.; Thalhammer, A.; Chowdhury, R.; Schofield, C. J. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 2012, 22, 691.

(108) Sedgwick, B.; Bates, P. A.; Paik, J.; Jacobs, S. C.; Lindahl, T. DNA Repair **2007**, *6*, 429.

(109) Duncan, T.; Trewick, S. C.; Koivisto, P.; Bates, P. A.; Lindahl, T.; Sedgwick, B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2002, 99, 16660.

(110) Lee, D. H.; Jin, S. G.; Cai, S.; Chen, Y.; Pfeifer, G. P.; O'Connor, T. R. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 39448.

(111) Ringvoll, J.; Moen, M. N.; Nordstrand, L. M.; Meira, L. B.; Pang, B.; Bekkelund, A.; Dedon, P. C.; Bjelland, S.; Samson, L. D.; Falnes, P. Ø.; Klungland, A. *Cancer Res.* **2008**, *68*, 4142.

(112) Fu, D.; Samson, L. D. DNA Repair 2012, 11, 46.

(113) Li, P.; Gao, S.; Wang, L.; Yu, F.; Li, J.; Wang, C.; Li, J.; Wong, J. Cell Rep. 2013, 4, 817.

(114) Ringvoll, J.; Nordstrand, L. M.; Vågbø, C. B.; Talstad, V.; Reite, K.; Aas, P. A.; Lauritzen, K. H.; Liabakk, N. B.; Bjork, A.; Doughty, R. W.; Falnes, P. Ø.; Krokan, H. E.; Klungland, A. *EMBO J.* **2006**, 25, 2189.

(115) Nay, S. L.; Lee, D. H.; Bates, S. E.; O'Connor, T. R. DNA Repair 2012, 11, 502.

(116) Meza, T. J.; Moen, M. N.; Vågbø, C. B.; Krokan, H. E.; Klungland, A.; Grini, P. E.; Falnes, P. Ø. Nucleic Acids Res. **2012**, 40, 6620.

(117) Chen, H.; Giri, N. C.; Zhang, R.; Yamane, K.; Zhang, Y.; Maroney, M.; Costa, M. J. Biol. Chem. **2010**, 285, 7374.

(118) Giri, N. C.; Sun, H.; Chen, H.; Costa, M.; Maroney, M. J. Biochemistry **2011**, *50*, 5067.

(119) David, S. S.; O'Shea, V. L.; Kundu, S. Nature 2007, 447, 941.

(120) Yi, C.; Chen, B.; Qi, B.; Zhang, W.; Jia, G.; Zhang, L.; Li, C. J.;

Dinner, A. R.; Yang, C. G.; He, C. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 2012, 19, 671. (121) Lu, L.; Yi, C.; Jian, X.; Zheng, G.; He, C. Nucleic Acids Res. 2010, 38, 4415.

(122) Monsen, V. T.; Sundheim, O.; Aas, P. A.; Westbye, M. P.; Sousa, M. M.; Slupphaug, G.; Krokan, H. E. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2010**, 38, 6447.

(123) Pang, X.; Han, K.; Cui, Q. J. Comput. Chem. 2013, 34, 1620. (124) Gao, W.; Li, L. J.; Xu, P.; Fang, J. Y.; Xiao, S. D.; Chen, S. L. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 2011, 26, 577.

(125) Cetica, V.; Genitori, L.; Giunti, L.; Sanzo, M.; Bernini, G.; Massimino, M.; Sardi, I. J. Neuro-Oncol. 2009, 94, 195.

(126) Johannessen, T. C. A.; Prestegarden, L.; Grudic, A.; Hegi, M. E.; Tysnes, B. B.; Bjerkvig, R. *Neuro-Oncol.* **2013**, *15*, 269.

(127) Calvo, J. A.; Meira, L. B.; Lee, C. Y. I.; Moroski-Erkul, C. A.; Abolhassani, N.; Taghizadeh, K.; Eichinger, L. W.; Muthupalani, S.; Nordstrand, L. M.; Klungland, A.; Samson, L. D. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2012**, *122*, 2680.

(128) Fujii, T.; Shimada, K.; Anai, S.; Fujimoto, K.; Konishi, N. *Cancer Sci.* **2013**, *104*, 321.

(129) Lee, S. Y.; Luk, S. K.; Chuang, C. P.; Yip, S. P.; To, S. S. T.; Yung, Y. M. B. *Br. J. Cancer* **2010**, *103*, 362.

(130) Wu, S. S.; Xu, W.; Liu, S.; Chen, B.; Wang, X. L.; Wang, Y.; Liu, S. F.; Wu, J. Q. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. **2011**, *32*, 393.

(131) Gilljam, K. M.; Feyzi, E.; Aas, P. A.; Sousa, M. M. L.; Müller, R.; Vågbø, C. B.; Catterall, T. C.; Liabakk, N. B.; Slupphaug, G.; Drablos, F.; Krokan, H. E.; Otterlei, M. J. Cell Biol. **2009**, 186, 645.

(132) Sundheim, O.; Vågbø, C. B.; Bjoras, M.; Sousa, M. M.; Talstad, V.; Aas, P. A.; Drablos, F.; Krokan, H. E.; Tainer, J. A.; Slupphaug, G. *EMBO J.* **2006**, *25*, 3389.

(133) Dango, S.; Mosammaparast, N.; Sowa, M. E.; Xiong, L. J.; Wu, F.; Park, K.; Rubin, M.; Gygi, S.; Harper, J. W.; Shi, Y. *Mol. Cell* **2011**, 44, 373.

(134) Yi, C.; Yang, C. G.; He, C. Acc. Chem. Res. 2009, 42, 519.

(135) Chen, B. E.; Liu, H. C.; Sun, X. X.; Yang, C. G. Mol. Biosyst. **2010**, *6*, 2143.

(136) Camps, M.; Eichman, B. F. Mol. Cell 2011, 44, 343.

(137) Tasaki, M.; Shimada, K.; Kimura, H.; Tsujikawa, K.; Konishi, N. Br. J. Cancer **2011**, *104*, 700.

(138) Choi, S. Y.; Jang, J. H.; Kim, K. R. Clin. Exp. Med. 2011, 11, 219.

(139) Neta, G.; Brenner, A. V.; Sturgis, E. M.; Pfeiffer, R. M.; Hutchinson, A. A.; Aschebrook-Kilfoy, B.; Yeager, M.; Xu, L.; Wheeler, W.; Abend, M.; Ron, E.; Tucker, M. A.; Chanock, S. J.; Sigurdson, A. J. *Carcinogenesis* **2011**, *32*, 1231.

(140) Koike, K.; Ueda, Y.; Hase, H.; Kitae, K.; Fusamae, Y.; Masai, S.; Inagaki, T.; Saigo, Y.; Hirasawa, S.; Nakajima, K.; Ohshio, I.; Makino, Y.; Konishi, N.; Yamamoto, H.; Tsujikawa, K. *Curr. Cancer Drug Targets* **2012**, *12*, 847.

(141) Yamato, I.; Sho, M.; Shimada, K.; Hotta, K.; Ueda, Y.; Yasuda, S.; Shigi, N.; Konishi, N.; Tsujikawa, K.; Nakajima, Y. *Cancer Res.* **2012**, *72*, 4829.

(142) Shimada, K.; Fujii, T.; Tsujikawa, K.; Anai, S.; Fujimoto, K.; Konishi, N. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2012**, *18*, 5247.

(143) Dina, C.; Meyre, D.; Gallina, S.; Durand, E.; Korner, A.; Jacobson, P.; Carlsson, L. M. S.; Kiess, W.; Vatin, V.; Lecoeur, C.; Delplanque, J.; Vaillant, E.; Pattou, F.; Ruiz, J.; Weill, J.; Levy-Marchal, C.; Horber, F.; Potoczna, N.; Hercberg, S.; Le Stunff, C.; Bougneres, P.; Kovacs, P.; Marre, M.; Balkau, B.; Cauchi, S.; Chevre, J. C.; Froguel, P. Nat. Genet. 2007, 39, 724.

(144) Frayling, T. M.; Timpson, N. J.; Weedon, M. N.; Zeggini, E.; Freathy, R. M.; Lindgren, C. M.; Perry, J. R. B.; Elliott, K. S.; Lango, H.; Rayner, N. W.; Shields, B.; Harries, L. W.; Barrett, J. C.; Ellard, S.; Groves, C. J.; Knight, B.; Patch, A. M.; Ness, A. R.; Ebrahim, S.; Lawlor, D. A.; Ring, S. M.; Ben-Shlomo, Y.; Jarvelin, M. R.; Sovio, U.; Bennett, A. J.; Melzer, D.; Ferrucci, L.; Loos, R. J. F.; Barroso, I.; Wareham, N. J.; Karpe, F.; Owen, K. R.; Cardon, L. R.; Walker, M.; Hitman, G. A.; Palmer, C. N. A.; Doney, A. S. F.; Morris, A. D.; Smith, G. D.; Hattersley, A. T.; McCarthy, M. I.; Control, W. T. C. Science **2007**, *316*, 889.

(145) Scott, L. J.; Mohlke, K. L.; Bonnycastle, L. L.; Willer, C. J.; Li, Y.; Duren, W. L.; Erdos, M. R.; Stringham, H. M.; Chines, P. S.; Jackson, A. U.; Prokunina-Olsson, L.; Ding, C. J.; Swift, A. J.; Narisu, N.; Hu, T.; Pruim, R.; Xiao, R.; Li, X. Y.; Conneely, K. N.; Riebow, N. L.; Sprau, A. G.; Tong, M.; White, P. P.; Hetrick, K. N.; Barnhart, M. W.; Bark, C. W.; Goldstein, J. L.; Watkins, L.; Xiang, F.; Saramies, J.; Buchanan, T. A.; Watanabe, R. M.; Valle, T. T.; Kinnunen, L.; Abecasis, G. R.; Pugh, E. W.; Doheny, K. F.; Bergman, R. N.; Tuomilehto, J.; Collins, F. S.; Boehnke, M. *Science* **2007**, *316*, 1341.

(146) Peters, T.; Ausmeier, K.; Rüther, U. Mamm. Genome **1999**, 10, 983.

(147) Fischer, J.; Koch, L.; Emmerling, C.; Vierkotten, J.; Peters, T.; Brüning, J. C.; Rüther, U. *Nature* **2009**, *458*, 894.

(148) Church, C.; Moir, L.; McMurray, F.; Girard, C.; Banks, G. T.; Teboul, L.; Wells, S.; Brüning, J. C.; Nolan, P. M.; Ashcroft, F. M.; Cox, R. D. *Nat. Genet.* **2010**, *42*, 1086.

(149) Boissel, S.; Reish, O.; Proulx, K.; Kawagoe-Takaki, H.; Sedgwick, B.; Yeo, G. S.; Meyre, D.; Golzio, C.; Molinari, F.; Kadhom, N.; Etchevers, H. C.; Saudek, V.; Farooqi, I. S.; Froguel, P.; Lindahl, T.; O'Rahilly, S.; Munnich, A.; Colleaux, L. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **2009**, *85*, 106.

(150) Iles, M. M.; Law, M. H.; Stacey, S. N.; Han, J.; Fang, S.; Pfeiffer, R.; Harland, M.; Macgregor, S.; Taylor, J. C.; Aben, K. K.; Akslen, L. A.; Avril, M. F.; Azizi, E.; Bakker, B.; Benediktsdottir, K. R.; Bergman, W.; Scarra, G. B.; Brown, K. M.; Calista, D.; Chaudru, V.; Fargnoli, M. C.; Cust, A. E.; Demenais, F.; de Waal, A. C.; Debniak, T.; Elder, D. E.; Friedman, E.; Galan, P.; Ghiorzo, P.; Gillanders, E. M.; Goldstein, A. M.; Gruis, N. A.; Hansson, J.; Helsing, P.; Hocevar, M.; Hoiom, V.; Hopper, J. L.; Ingvar, C.; Janssen, M.; Jenkins, M. A.; Kanetsky, P. A.; Kiemeney, L. A.; Lang, J.; Lathrop, G. M.; Leachman, S.; Lee, J. E.; Lubinski, J.; Mackie, R. M.; Mann, G. J.; Martin, N. G.; Mayordomo, J. I.; Molven, A.; Mulder, S.; Nagore, E.; Novakovic, S.; Okamoto, I.; Olafsson, J. H.; Olsson, H.; Pehamberger, H.; Peris, K.; Grasa, M. P.; Planelles, D.; Puig, S.; Puig-Butille, J. A.; Randerson-Moor, J.; Requena, C.; Rivoltini, L.; Rodolfo, M.; Santinami, M.; Sigurgeirsson, B.; Snowden, H.; Song, F.; Sulem, P.; Thorisdottir, K.; Tuominen, R.; Van Belle, P.; van der Stoep, N.; van Rossum, M. M.; Wei, Q.; Wendt, J.; Zelenika, D.; Zhang, M.; Landi, M. T.; Thorleifsson, G.; Bishop, D. T.; Amos, C. I.; Hayward, N. K.; Stefansson, K.; Bishop, J. A.; Barrett, J. H.; Geno, M. E. L. C.; Q, M.; Investigators, A. Nat. Genet. 2013, 45, 428.

(151) Müller, T. D.; Tschop, M. H.; Hofmann, S. *PLoS Genet.* 2013, 9, e1003223.

- (152) Jia, G. F.; Yang, C. G.; Yang, S. D.; Jian, X.; Yi, C. Q.; Zhou, Z. Q.; He, C. *FEBS Lett.* **2008**, *582*, 3313.
- (153) Han, Z. F.; Niu, T. H.; Chang, J. B.; Lei, X. G.; Zhao, M. Y.; Wang, Q.; Cheng, W.; Wang, J. J.; Feng, Y.; Chai, J. J. *Nature* **2010**, 464, 1205.

(154) Ratel, D.; Ravanat, J. L.; Berger, F.; Wion, D. *Bioessays* 2006, 28, 309.

- (155) Saneyoshi, M.; Harada, F.; Nishimura, S. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1969, 190, 264.
- (156) Iwanami, Y.; Brown, G. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1968, 126, 8. (157) Meyer, K. D.; Saletore, Y.; Zumbo, P.; Elemento, O.; Mason,
- C. E.; Jaffrey, S. R. Cell **2012**, 149, 1635.

(158) Bodi, Z.; Button, J. D.; Grierson, D.; Fray, R. G. Nucleic Acids Res. 2010, 38, 5327.

(159) Dominissini, D.; Moshitch-Moshkovitz, S.; Schwartz, S.; Salmon-Divon, M.; Ungar, L.; Osenberg, S.; Cesarkas, K.; Jacob-Hirsch, J.; Amariglio, N.; Kupiec, M.; Sorek, R.; Rechavi, G. *Nature* **2012**, 485, 201.

(160) Harper, J. E.; Miceli, S. M.; Roberts, R. J.; Manley, J. L. Nucleic Acids Res. 1990, 18, 5735.

- (161) Liu, J.; Yue, Y.; Han, D.; Wang, X.; Fu, Y.; Zhang, L.; Jia, G.; Yu, M.; Lu, Z.; Deng, X.; Dai, Q.; Chen, W.; He, C. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *10*, 93.
- (162) Hess, M. E.; Hess, S.; Meyer, K. D.; Verhagen, L. A.; Koch, L.; Brönneke, H. S.; Dietrich, M. O.; Jordan, S. D.; Saletore, Y.; Elemento, O.; Belgardt, B. F.; Franz, T.; Horvath, T. L.; Rüther, U.; Jaffrey, S. R.; Kloppenburg, P.; Brüning, J. C. *Nat. Neurosci.* **2013**, *16*, 1042.

(163) Wang, X.; Lu, Z.; Gomez, A.; Hon, G. C.; Yue, Y.; Han, D.; Fu, Y.; Parisien, M.; Dai, Q.; Jia, G.; Ren, B.; Pan, T.; He, C. *Nature* **2014**, 505, 117.

(164) Fu, Y.; Jia, G. F.; Pang, X. Q.; Wang, R. N.; Wang, X.; Li, C. J.; Smemo, S.; Dai, Q.; Bailey, K. A.; Nobrega, M. A.; Han, K. L.; Cui, Q.; He, C. *Nat. Commun.* **2013**, 4.

(165) Cheung, M. K.; Yeo, G. S. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne) 2011, 2, 4.

(166) Chen, B.; Ye, F.; Yu, L.; Jia, G.; Huang, X.; Zhang, X.; Peng, S.; Chen, K.; Wang, M.; Gong, S.; Zhang, R.; Yin, J.; Li, H.; Yang, Y.; Liu, H.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, A.; Jiang, H.; Luo, C.; Yang, C. G. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134*, 17963.

(167) Aik, W.; Demetriades, M.; Hamdan, M. K.; Bagg, E. A.; Yeoh, K. K.; Lejeune, C.; Zhang, Z.; McDonough, M. A.; Schofield, C. J. J. *Med. Chem.* **2013**, *56*, 3680.

(168) Thalhammer, A.; Bencokova, Z.; Poole, R.; Loenarz, C.; Adam, J.; O'Flaherty, L.; Schodel, J.; Mole, D.; Giaslakiotis, K.; Schofield, C. J.; Hammond, E. M.; Ratcliffe, P. J.; Pollard, P. J. *PLoS One* **2011**, *6*, e16210.

(169) Karkhanis, V.; Wang, L.; Tae, S.; Hu, Y. J.; Imbalzano, A. N.; Sif, S. J. Biol. Chem. **2012**, 287, 29801.

(170) Castello, A.; Fischer, B.; Eichelbaum, K.; Horos, R.; Beckmann, B. M.; Strein, C.; Davey, N. E.; Humphreys, D. T.; Preiss, T.; Steinmetz, L. M.; Krijgsveld, J.; Hentze, M. W. *Cell* **2012**, *149*, 1393.

(171) Baltz, A. G.; Munschauer, M.; Schwanhausser, B.; Vasile, A.; Murakawa, Y.; Schueler, M.; Youngs, N.; Penfold-Brown, D.; Drew, K.; Milek, M.; Wyler, E.; Bonneau, R.; Selbach, M.; Dieterich, C.; Landthaler, M. Mol. Cell **2012**, *46*, 674.

(172) Aik, W.; Scotti, J. S.; Choi, H.; Gong, L.; Demetriades, M.; Schofield, C. J.; McDonough, M. A. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, published online Jan 30, 2014, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku085.

(173) Zheng, G.; Dahl, J. A.; Niu, Y.; Fu, Y.; Klungland, A.; Yang, Y. G.; He, C. *RNA Biol.* **2013**, 10, 915.

(174) Fu, D.; Brophy, J. A. N.; Chan, C. T. Y.; Atmore, K. A.; Begley, U.; Paules, R. S.; Dedon, P. C.; Begley, T. J.; Samson, L. D. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **2010**, *30*, 2449.

(175) Fu, Y.; Dai, Q.; Zhang, W.; Ren, J.; Pan, T.; He, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 8885.

(176) Songe-Moller, L.; van den Born, E.; Leihne, V.; Vågbø, C. B.; Kristoffersen, T.; Krokan, H. E.; Kirpekar, F.; Falnes, P. Ø.; Klungland, A. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **2010**, *30*, 1814.

(177) Leihne, V.; Kirpekar, F.; Vågbø, C. B.; van den Born, E.; Krokan, H. E.; Grini, P. E.; Meza, T. J.; Falnes, P. Ø. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2011**, *39*, 7688.

(178) Shimada, K.; Nakamura, M.; Anai, S.; De Velasco, M.; Tanaka,

M.; Tsujikawa, K.; Ouji, Y.; Konishi, N. *Cancer Res.* **2009**, *69*, 3157. (179) Kim, Y. O.; Park, S. J.; Balaban, R. S.; Nirenberg, M.; Kim, Y. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2004**, *101*, 159.

(180) Byrne, A. B.; Weirauch, M. T.; Wong, V.; Koeva, M.; Dixon, S. J.; Stuart, J. M.; Roy, P. J. *J. Biol.* **2007**, *6*, 8.

(181) Pastore, C.; Topalidou, I.; Forouhar, F.; Yan, A. C.; Levy, M.; Hunt, J. F. J. Biol. Chem. 2012, 287, 2130.

(182) Begley, U.; Dyavaiah, M.; Patil, A.; Rooney, J. P.; DiRenzo, D.; Young, C. M.; Conklin, D. S.; Zitomer, R. S.; Begley, T. J. *Mol. Cell* **2007**, 28, 860.

(183) van den Born, E.; Vågbø, C. B.; Songe-Møller, L.; Leihne, V.; Lien, G. F.; Leszczynska, G.; Malkiewicz, A.; Krokan, H. E.; Kirpekar, F.; Klungland, A.; Falnes, P. Ø. *Nat. Commun.* **2011**, *2*, 172.

(184) Westbye, M. P.; Feyzi, E.; Aas, P. A.; Vågbø, C. B.; Talstad, V. A.; Kavli, B.; Hagen, L.; Sundheim, O.; Akbari, M.; Liabakk, N. B.; Slupphaug, G.; Otterlei, M.; Krokan, H. E. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2008**, *283*, 25046.

(185) Su, A. I.; Cooke, M. P.; Ching, K. A.; Hakak, Y.; Walker, J. R.; Wiltshire, T.; Orth, A. P.; Vega, R. G.; Sapinoso, L. M.; Moqrich, A.; Patapoutian, A.; Hampton, G. M.; Schultz, P. G.; Hogenesch, J. B. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2002**, *99*, 4465.

(186) Tsujikawa, K.; Koike, K.; Kitae, K.; Shinkawa, A.; Arima, H.; Suzuki, T.; Tsuchiya, M.; Makino, Y.; Furukawa, T.; Konishi, N.; Yamamoto, H. J. Cell. Mol. Med. **2007**, *11*, 1105.

(187) Müller, T. A.; Yu, K.; Hausinger, R. P.; Meek, K. PLoS One 2013, 8, e67403.

(188) Müller, T. A.; Meek, K.; Hausinger, R. P. DNA Repair 2010, 9, 58.

(189) Müller, T. A.; Andrzejak, M. M.; Hausinger, R. P. Biochem. J. 2013, 452, 509.

(190) Ougland, R.; Lando, D.; Jonson, I.; Dahl, J. A.; Moen, M. N.; Nordstrand, L. M.; Rognes, T.; Lee, J. T.; Klungland, A.; Kouzarides, T.; Larsen, E. *Stem Cells* **2012**, *30*, 2672.

(191) Pan, Z. S.; Sikandar, S.; Witherspoon, M.; Dizon, D.; Nguyen, T.; Benirschke, K.; Wiley, C.; Vrana, P.; Lipkin, S. M. *Dev. Dyn.* **2008**, 237, 316.

(192) Nordstrand, L. M.; Svard, J.; Larsen, E.; Nilsen, A.; Ougland, R.; Furu, K.; Lien, G. F.; Rognes, T.; Namekawa, S. H.; Lee, J. T.; Klungland, A. *PLoS One* **2010**, *5*, e13827.

(193) Nordstrand, L. M.; Furu, K.; Paulsen, J.; Rognes, T.; Klungland, A. Nucleic Acids Res. 2012, 40, 10950.

(194) Bjørnstad, L. G.; Zoppellaro, G.; Tomter, A. B.; Falnes, P. Ø.; Andersson, K. K. *Biochem. J.* **2011**, 434, 391.

(195) Bjørnstad, L. G.; Meza, T. J.; Otterlei, M.; Olafsrud, S. M.; Meza-Zepeda, L. A.; Falnes, P. Ø. *PLoS One* **2012**, *7*, e49045.

(196) Li, M. M.; Nilsen, A.; Shi, Y.; Fusser, M.; Ding, Y. H.; Fu, Y.;

Liu, B.; Niu, Y.; Wu, Y. S.; Huang, C. M.; Olofsson, M.; Jin, K. X.; Lv,

Y.; Xu, X. Z.; He, C.; Dong, M. Q.; Rendtlew Danielsen, J. M.; Klungland, A.; Yang, Y. G. Nat. Commun. 2013, 4, 1832.

(197) Solberg, A.; Robertson, A. B.; Aronsen, J. M.; Rognmo, O.;

Sjaastad, I.; Wisloff, U.; Klungland, A. J. Mol. Cell Biol. 2013, 5, 194. (198) Fu, D.; Jordan, J. J.; Samson, L. D. Genes Dev. 2013, 27, 1089.

(199) Jones, P. A. Nat. Rev. Genet. 2012, 13, 484.

(200) Okano, M.; Xie, S.; Li, E. Nat. Genet. 1998, 19, 219.

- (201) Bestor, T.; Laudano, A.; Mattaliano, R.; Ingram, V. J. Mol. Biol. 1988, 203, 971.
- (202) Hermann, A.; Goyal, R.; Jeltsch, A. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 48350.

(203) Kriaucionis, S.; Heintz, N. Science 2009, 324, 929.

(204) Mayer, W.; Niveleau, A.; Walter, J.; Fundele, R.; Haaf, T. Nature 2000, 403, 501.

(205) Thornburg, L. D.; Lai, M. T.; Wishnok, J. S.; Stubbe, J. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 14023.

(206) Iyer, L. M.; Anantharaman, V.; Wolf, M. Y.; Aravind, L. Int. J. Parasitol. 2008, 38, 1.

(207) Iyer, L. M.; Tahiliani, M.; Rao, A.; Aravind, L. Cell Cycle 2009, 8, 1698.

(208) Ono, R.; Taki, T.; Taketani, T.; Taniwaki, M.; Kobayashi, H.; Hayashi, Y. *Cancer Res.* **2002**, *62*, 4075.

(209) Lorsbach, R. B.; Moore, J.; Mathew, S.; Raimondi, S. C.; Mukatira, S. T.; Downing, J. R. *Leukemia* 2003, *17*, 637.

(210) Wu, H.; Zhang, Y. Genes Dev. 2011, 25, 2436.

(211) Xu, Y.; Xu, C.; Kato, A.; Tempel, W.; Abreu, J. G.; Bian, C.;

Hu, Y.; Hu, D.; Zhao, B.; Cerovina, T.; Diao, J.; Wu, F.; He, H. H.;

Cui, Q.; Clark, E.; Ma, C.; Barbara, A.; Veenstra, G. J.; Xu, G.; Kaiser, U. B.; Liu, X. S.; Sugrue, S. P.; He, X.; Min, J.; Kato, Y.; Shi, Y. G. *Cell* **2012**, *151*, 1200.

(212) Ito, S.; D'Alessio, A. C.; Taranova, O. V.; Hong, K.; Sowers, L. C.; Zhang, Y. *Nature* **2010**, *466*, 1129.

(213) Xu, W.; Yang, H.; Liu, Y.; Yang, Y.; Wang, P.; Kim, S. H.; Ito, S.; Yang, C.; Wang, P.; Xiao, M. T.; Liu, L. X.; Jiang, W. Q.; Liu, J.; Zhang, J. Y.; Wang, B.; Frye, S.; Zhang, Y.; Xu, Y. H.; Lei, Q. Y.; Guan, K. L.; Zhao, S. M.; Xiong, Y. *Cancer Cell* **2011**, *19*, 17.

(214) Hu, L.; Li, Z.; Cheng, J.; Rao, Q.; Gong, W.; Liu, M.; Shi, Y. G.; Zhu, J.; Wang, P.; Xu, Y. *Cell* **2013**, *155*, 1545.

(215) Gu, T. P.; Guo, F.; Yang, H.; Wu, H. P.; Xu, G. F.; Liu, W.; Xie,

Z. G.; Shi, L.; He, X.; Jin, S. G.; Iqbal, K.; Shi, Y. G.; Deng, Z.; Szabo, P. E.; Pfeifer, G. P.; Li, I.; Xu, G. L. *Nature* **2011**, *477*, 606.

(216) Iqbal, K.; Jin, S. G.; Pfeifer, G. P.; Szabo, P. E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2011, 108, 3642.

(217) Wossidlo, M.; Nakamura, T.; Lepikhov, K.; Marques, C. J.; Zakhartchenko, V.; Boiani, M.; Arand, J.; Nakano, T.; Reik, W.; Walter, J. *Nat. Commun.* **2011**, *2*, 241.

(218) Maiti, A.; Drohat, A. C. J. Biol. Chem. 2011, 286, 35334.

(219) Zhang, L.; Lu, X. Y.; Lu, J. Y.; Liang, H. H.; Dai, Q.; Xu, G. L.; Luo, C.; Jiang, H. L.; He, C. Nat. Chem. Biol. **2012**, *8*, 328.

(220) Guo, J. U.; Su, Y.; Zhong, C.; Ming, G. L.; Song, H. Cell 2011, 145, 423.

(221) Nabel, C. S.; Jia, H.; Ye, Y.; Shen, L.; Goldschmidt, H. L.; Stivers, J. T.; Zhang, Y.; Kohli, R. M. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2012, 8, 751.

(222) Schiesser, S.; Hackner, B.; Pfaffeneder, T.; Müller, M.; Hagemeier, C.; Truss, M.; Carell, T. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 6516.

(223) Lindahl, T. Nature 1993, 362, 709.

(224) Stivers, J. T.; Jiang, Y. L. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2729.

(225) Cortellino, S.; Xu, J. F.; Sannai, M.; Moore, R.; Caretti, E.; Cigliano, A.; Le Coz, M.; Devarajan, K.; Wessels, A.; Soprano, D.; Abramowitz, L. K.; Bartolomei, M. S.; Rambow, F.; Bassi, M. R.; Bruno, T.; Fanciulli, M.; Renner, C.; Klein-Szanto, A. J.; Matsumoto, Y.; Kobi, D.; Davidson, I.; Alberti, C.; Larue, L.; Bellacosa, A. Cell **2011**, 146, 67.

(226) Cortazar, D.; Kunz, C.; Selfridge, J.; Lettieri, T.; Saito, Y.; MacDougall, E.; Wirz, A.; Schuermann, D.; Jacobs, A. L.; Siegrist, F.; Steinacher, R.; Jiricny, J.; Bird, A.; Schar, P. *Nature* **2011**, *470*, 419.

(227) Penn, N. W.; Suwalski, R.; O'Riley, C.; Bojanowski, K.; Yura,

R. Biochem. J. 1972, 126, 781.

(228) Song, C. X.; Yi, C.; He, C. Nat. Biotechnol. 2012, 30, 1107.

(229) Koh, K. P.; Rao, A. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 2013, 25, 152.

(230) Shen, L.; Zhang, Y. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 2013, 25, 289.

(231) Yu, M.; Hon, G. C.; Szulwach, K. E.; Song, C. X.; Zhang, L.; Kim, A.; Li, X.; Dai, Q.; Shen, Y.; Park, B.; Min, J. H.; Jin, P.; Ren, B.; He, C. *Cell* **2012**, *149*, 1368.

(232) Mellen, M.; Ayata, P.; Dewell, S.; Kriaucionis, S.; Heintz, N. *Cell* **2012**, *151*, 1417.

(233) Song, C. X.; Szulwach, Keith E.; Dai, Q.; Fu, Y.; Mao, S.-Q.; Lin, L.; Street, C.; Li, Y.; Poidevin, M.; Wu, H.; Gao, J.; Liu, P.; Li, L.; Xu, G.-L.; Jin, P.; He, C. *Cell* **2013**, *153*, 678.

(234) Shen, L.; Wu, H.; Diep, D.; Yamaguchi, S.; D'Alessio, A. C.; Fung, H. L.; Zhang, K.; Zhang, Y. *Cell* **2013**, *153*, 692. (235) Spruijt, C. G.; Gnerlich, F.; Smits, A. H.; Pfaffeneder, T.; Jansen, P. W.; Bauer, C.; Münzel, M.; Wagner, M.; Müller, M.; Khan, F.; Eberl, H. C.; Mensinga, A.; Brinkman, A. B.; Lephikov, K.; Müller, U.; Walter, J.; Boelens, R.; van Ingen, H.; Leonhardt, H.; Carell, T.; Vermeulen, M. *Cell* **2013**, *152*, 1146.